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Monday, December 17, 2007

--- On commencing at 1:02 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


The Board is sitting today in connection with a notice of proceeding on natural gas storage allocation policies that the Board issued on August 28th of this year.  That notice arose out of the Board's November 7th, 2006 decision with respect to the natural gas interface review proceeding, known as NGEIR.


One of the issues addressed in that decision concerned the methodologies used by Union Gas Limited and Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. with respect to the allocation of cost-based storage to unbundled and semi-bundled in-franchise customers.


In that decision, at page 90, the Board required Union and Enbridge to make certain filings for the Board's review, which they did, with Union and Enbridge filing on February 2nd and 6th, respectively.  Union filed supplementary evidence on November 2nd.  Three intervenors, APPrO, IGUA and City of Kitchener, filed evidence on December 4th, followed by Union reply evidence on December 11th.


The Board in its procedural order of October 26th identified at appendix A the four issues to be considered in this proceeding, and in the Board's decision and order of November 26th -- November 22nd, rather, today was set down for the day to commence the oral hearings.


May we have the appearances, please?

Appearances:


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Peter Thompson for the Industrial Gas Users Association.


MR. RYDER:  Alick Ryder for the City of Kitchener, and Mr. Gruenbauer will be with me when he arrives.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. MORAN:  Pat Moran for the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Moran.  


MR. WOLNIK:  John Wolnik, also with the Power Producers.


MS. WONG:  Sharon Wong for Union Gas.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Wong.


MR. CASS:  Fred Cass for Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass.


MS. YOUNG:  Valerie Young, Aegent Energy Advisors.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Young.  Ms. Wong?


MS. CAMPBELL:  If I might, before Ms. Wong starts speaking, Mr. Aiken asked that I enter...


Mr. Aiken asked that I enter an appearance on his behalf.  The weather has delayed his arrival.  And obviously Donna Campbell and Colin Schuch for Board Staff.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


MS. WONG:  Mr. Chair, before I start with a brief examination-in-chief, perhaps I should just raise the issue of how we're going to deal with confidential information.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MS. WONG:  I exchanged some e-mails with Ms. Campbell this morning.  I have indicated to her that Union has provided IGUA with three or four graphs that contain some confidential customer information that I would have proposed to deal with in my examination-in-chief in response to evidence that IGUA is likely going to be raising with respect to specific customer information.


I understand that the Board would like all of the confidential information to be dealt with at one time in a separate confidential hearing at the conclusion of the non-confidential portion of the cross-examination of Union.  Is that correct?


MR. KAISER:  That is correct.


MS. WONG:  Okay.  So what I will likely do, then, is at the appropriate point in my examination-in-chief, I will indicate to the Board that normally this is where I would put the graphs to the -- or to the witnesses, and then we will leave that until we come to the confidential portion later on.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


MS. WONG:  Let me take a moment to introduce the 
panel --


MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Chairman, could I just speak to that matter briefly, please, to make sure I understand what the plan is?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  I do have here today two of the IGUA witnesses, Lisa Camaro and David Forsythe.  Lisa is with Dofasco and David is with Gerdau.


The other IGUA witnesses will be joining us, I believe, later this afternoon.  So my understanding is that we're dealing with non-confidential information in the initial part of the Union evidence, and that if I understand it correctly, everyone will complete the cross-examination of Union on non-confidential information before we move into the confidential aspect of Union's material.  Through you, I would just ask if I have understood this correctly.


MR. KAISER:  That's my understanding.  Is that right, Ms. Wong?


MS. WONG:  That's also my understanding, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then I believe the IGUA witness panel is the next one up, and certainly the three company reps will be providing confidential information.


These company reps haven't signed any confidentiality undertakings yet, but I assume they will be made available to them.


Again, through you, just enquiring how the plan is to handle the IGUA testimony.  Would it all be in confidence, and then afterwards, if there is anything that could go on the public record, we would do it by way of redacted transcript, or are you expecting us to somehow subdivide that into non-confidential and confidential?


MR. KAISER:  Can you subdivide it?


MR. THOMPSON:  Not without difficulty.


MR. KAISER:  Okay.


MR. THOMPSON:  I would prefer to just have them empanelled in confidence, and then we have done this in prior cases where, after it's all over, we go through the transcript and identify material that could stay on the public record.


So if that is satisfactory, that would be my suggestion for dealing with the IGUA panel.


MR. KAISER:  Any objection, Ms. Wong?


MS. WONG:  No objections to that, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Any objections, Ms. Campbell?


MS. CAMPBELL:  No.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  All right.  Let's proceed that way.


MS. WONG:  On the Union witness panel this morning (sic), starting on the far right is Mr. David MacEacheron.  He is the strategic manager for industrial markets for Union.  He is responsible for managing Union's relationship with its large industrial customers, and he will be speaking about implementation issues.  


In the middle is Ms. Libby Passmore.  She is the manager of product and process development, and she will be dealing with questions about the methodology for the space allocation.


And on the far left is Mr. Drew Quigley, who is the manager of integrated gas supply planning, and he leads the group that prepares the annual gas supply plan for the bundled in-franchise customers, and he will be speaking about deliverability issues.


If I could ask the panel to turn up the Union initial proposal from February '07, Exhibit A1.


What I propose to do --


MR. KAISER:  Before we start, let's have the witnesses sworn.

UNION GAS - PANEL 1


David MacEacheron; Sworn


Libby Passmore; Sworn


Drew Quigley; Sworn
Examination by Ms. Wong:


MS. WONG:  What I am proposing to do is ask the witnesses to essentially walk you through the evidence and probably take an hour or so, just to give you an overview of all of the evidence, and we will start with Exhibit A1, which is the initial proposal that Union filed in February of this year.  


Ms. Passmore, were you involved in putting together this proposal?


MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, I was.


MS. WONG:  Mr. MacEacheron -- Mr. MacEacheron and Mr. Quigley, were you also involved?


MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes.


MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.


MS. WONG:  Ms. Passmore, can you tell us why Union created this proposal?


MS. PASSMORE:  Union created this proposal purely in response to the Board directive that Union was to -- that came out of page 88 of the NGEIR decision, that Union was to review the use of storage by existing T1 customers, were to develop one or more storage allocation methods that would result in better estimate of certain customers' needs than aggregate excess, and that we would submit a response to this directive within 90 days a proposed storage allocation policy for Board review detailing the aggregate excess method and the new proposal for an alternate methodology.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Could you turn to page 9, please, of Exhibit A1?


Exhibit 9 in the top part of the page, the first paragraph sets out three principles that Union considered to be key principles when they created the proposal.


Could you tell us why you considered those to be important principles?


MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, certainly.  The principle no. 1, that cost-based storage is intended to reasonably meet a physical need at a customer's end-use location, and this principle reflects the Board's findings in the NGEIR decision with reasons page 89.  

On page 89, it specifically states that the objective of the allocation of cost-based storage space is to assign an amount that is reasonably in line with what a customer is likely to require.  The objective is not to allocate precisely the amount a particular customer claims it might need.  

Our second principle, that cost-based storage is required to balance a customer's obligated supply, his obligated DCQ with its varying end use, that can be seasonal or daily consumption.  And this principle reflects that storage is a gas supply management tool and the Board determined, during NGEIR, that 100 pJs of Union's Dawn storage facilities are utility assets, and our intent with this proposal is to allocate these utility assets to process load customers to meet their reasonable supply versus consumption needs.  

And the third principle also, again, was reflective of part of the NGEIR decision.  Cost-based storage should not be linked to any specific customer gas supply plan and resulting requirements, and this principle reflects the findings of the Board decision on page 97 of NGEIR.  

MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Now, just for the benefit of the Board.  The proposal that Union has filed has five elements, and what I thought I would do is just sort of list them for you right now and give you the specific evidence references that might make it easier for you.  Then I will just ask the witnesses to confirm those are the five elements of the proposal. 

The first one is changes to the way the aggregate excess amount is to be calculated for customers using the aggregate excess method to determine their cost-based storage allocation.  Union is proposing that the aggregate excess calculation be refreshed annually and that it be partly based on forecasted consumption and not exclusively on historical consumption, and that the reduction factor be eliminated.  

Those changes are described in Exhibit A1 at pages 21 to 22 and clarified in Union's reply evidence which is Exhibit R1 at pages 9 to 10.  The second element is a new alternative method for allocating cost-based space to customers whose consumption patterns are not driven by seasonal factors, and in Union's evidence those customers are called process load customers.  The proposal is to allocate cost-based space to process load customers equal to ten times the obligated DCQ, and that method is described in Union's supplementary evidence Exhibit A-3 at pages 1 to 4.  

The third element of the proposal is standard cost-based deliverability for the alternative 10X DCQ method would be 1.2 percent of contracted space which is consistent with the standard deliverability for the aggregate excess method, and the rationale for deliverability at 1.2 percent is described in the supplementary evidence, Exhibit A-3 at pages 5 to 13.  

The fourth element of the proposal:  Union is proposing changes to the way customers can use their contracted storage in order to give customers additional flexibility in how they can use the storage.  The proposal is that the additional flexibility will only be offered if high deliverability above 1.2 percent is sold at market prices.  The additional flexibility proposal is described in Exhibit A1 at page 25, and in the supplementary evidence at Exhibit A-3, pages 10 to 11, and in the reply evidence at pages 2 to 8.  

And the last element is the transition provision and Union has proposed a storage option to facilitate at contract renewal the transition of grandfathered T1 customers to the new proposed T1 allocation policy, and the transition option is described in Exhibit A1 on pages 22 and 23 and further clarified in Union's response to undertakings, Exhibit TCU, 214.  And in Union's reply evidence Exhibit R1, pages 21 to 22.  

Ms. Passmore, can you confirm those are the five elements of the proposal. 

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, they are.  

MS. WONG:  Now, what I am proposing to do is have the witnesses go through each of those five elements and describe in detail what the proposal is and what the reason is for the proposal.  

Starting with the changes to the aggregate excess method.  There are three proposed changes to the aggregate excess method.  The first change is the change to the inputs into the calculation.  The second change is that the calculation would be refreshed annually, and thirdly, that the reduction factor be eliminated.  

With respect to the changes in the proposed inputs, if you could turn up Exhibit A1 at page 4.  

Mr. Quigley, could you explain to the Board what the conceptual basis of the aggregate excess calculation is? What's the calculation supposed to do? 

MR. QUIGLEY:  The aggregate excess calculation is a methodology to allocate storage to customers who have a greater proportion of their annual consumption in the wintertime, so in the months of November through March.  

MS. WONG:  Thank you.  And can you explain how it's calculated, currently.  

MR. QUIGLEY:  The current calculation is actually laid out at the bottom of page 4 in the original evidence filed on February 2nd where you take the total winter consumption, so that is the consumption from November 1 to March 31, and from that you subtract an amount that is equal to taking your total annual consumption, dividing it by 365 days, to get an average annual consumption and then multiplying that amount by 151 to represent the 151 days of winter from November 1 to March 31.  

MS. WONG:  Thank you.  And Mr. MacEacheron, can you tell us, under the current method, how often does Union calculate a customer's aggregate excess allocation of space?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Under the current method, we calculate it when a customer switches from a bundled service to T service so it is calculated once initially.  

And then that amount is left at that level unless there is a significant change at the customer's end-use facility.  We have used contracted demand and level of contracted demand as a measure of that.  So if a customer's contracted demand has changed by an amount greater than or equal to five percent, then we would refresh the aggregate excess calculation reflecting its significant change in customer's planned use.  

MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Could you turn to page 21 of Exhibit A1.  

Could you explain to us the change that Union is proposing in respect of what inputs will be used in the aggregate excess calculation and why you are proposing those changes.


MR. MacEACHERON:  When we first looked at this task, we looked at using just one year of historical consumption, the most recent historical consumption available to calculate the aggregate excess amount.  When we shared this approach with our customers, prior to filing, we were told that there were some concerns with respect to using just one year of historical data, that variations in planned
 consumption over a one-year time period could influence that.  

So with that in mind, we then approached the inputs, the aggregate excess methodology by using, by proposing to use a 24-month historical period weighted at 50 percent, 25 percent for each, and incorporating a forecast provided by the customer agreed to by Union and weighted at 50 percent,  and use that as the inputs for the aggregate excess calculation.  

MS. WONG:  Under the proposal, how often is Union proposing that the aggregate excess amount be calculated?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  We are proposing now that instead of allowing it to roll over each year until there is a significant change in the plan, we're proposing now to refresh the aggregate excess calculation at renewal, every renewal.  

MS. WONG:  Now, under the current system, would you typically roll over the contracted space at contract renewal?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.  

MS. WONG:  And that's going to come to an end under the proposal?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  That's correct.  

MS. WONG:  And why are you proposing to have it come to an end?  And have a fresh calculation every year?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  The Board expressed concern in its decision that was released in November of 2006 with respect to the variances between what was allocated versus what the aggregate excess was calculating.  Some of those variances were caused by the passage of time and changes at the plan on a gradual basis over the years.  By refreshing every year and taking a look at two years' history, as well as one year forecast, we think that that will provide a very consistent method for allocating storage in a standardized manner to all T1 customers.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Now, if you could just turn over to the reply evidence, Exhibit R1 at page 9, at the bottom of page 9 of Exhibit R1, it says:   

"IGUA has incorrectly interpreted the information provided in Exhibit A2.1.  In Union's letter to the Board dated November 30, 2007, the variance associated with Lanxess as reported on Exhibit 2.1 was explained.  The same explanation is applicable to the variances for the other long-term customers referred to on page 14 of IGUA's evidence."


Now, as I understand it, the variance that's being discussed here is the variance between the aggregate excess allocation reported on Exhibit 2.1 and the actual contracted space.  Is that your understanding, Mr. MacEacheron?


MR. MacEACHERON:  That's correct.


MS. WONG:  And the explanation for that variance is given on the next page, page 10.  Could you explain to us or explain to the Board the reason for those variances and explain how this relates to Union's proposal to change the inputs for the AE calculation?


MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.  As I mentioned, the consumption at a customer's end use facility will vary over time depending upon business conditions, new equipment installed, old equipment removed, general changes at the plant.  That will influence consumption.


So when you're looking at a particular period of time, say, a 12-month period, you will note the consumption is perhaps a little bit different from one 12-month period to another 12-month period.


So with our proposal, by taking two years of history and blending that and weighting it at 25 percent, and then also taking into consideration the customer's forecast, we hope to smooth or dampen out a one- or two-month anomaly that may appear in a customer's historical consumption and use that as the input for aggregate excess.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Now, with respect to the storage reduction factor which is being proposed to be eliminated, that's dealt with in Exhibit A1 at page 5.


Mr. Quigley, could you explain to us what the storage reduction factor is and what was its purpose?


MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes.  What the factor is is that the factor is a number expressed as a percentage which is applied against the customer's aggregate excess calculated amount of storage.


What the factor was meant to represent was, within -- we recognized that within the bundled rate classes there were some customers that had predominantly summer consumption loads.  The impact of these customers was to reduce the overall amount of storage that would be required to that bundled rate class, the impact being that these customers, if they were to move unbundled their storage from the bundled rate class in the semi-unbundled or unbundled service, the amount of storage they would be allocated would be zero.


If the rest of the customers were to move their unbundled from the rate class, they would get their aggregate excess calculation, and the impact would have been, if you totalled up all of the customers within the group, you would have -- if all customers unbundled, you would have more storage being allocated to those customers than had been available to the entire bundled rate class.


So the purpose of the reduction factor was to calculate the global amount of the impact of that summer consumption and reduce the customer's aggregate excess amount by that to shrink down the total storage to the amount that was in the bundled rate class.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Now, if you look at Exhibit A1, page 17 at the bottom of that page, it says:

"Union is also proposing to eliminate the storage reduction factor which has been applied against the aggregate excess calculation since 2000."


Then going over to page 18, you set out some reasons for that.  And, Mr. Quigley, could you explain to us what the reason is for removing the storage reduction factor?


MR. QUIGLEY:  There is basically two primary reasons.  The first reason was the reduction factor was introduced back during the unbundling settlement agreement and it was in an environment where Union expected a significant amount of customers to unbundle.


Union also expected to have to manage the amount of storage, that unbundled storage from the total bundled rate class allocation.


Now, given the NGEIR decision in November 2006, there's been a 100 pJ cap been placed on utility asset storage.  So, therefore, now, Union has that 100 pJs of utility asset to manage the unbundling impacts, whereas before, the concern was that the only storage that would be available was the total bundled amount, and, if you exceeded that, then you were going into system integrity storage in order to meet that requirement.


Then the second rationale was that previously these summer consumption load customers, under aggregate excess would normally get little or no storage.  Often no storage would be allocated under aggregate cess.  


The purpose of this hearing is to introduce a new storage methodology which will allocate those customers' storage if they unbundle or in a semi-unbundled world.  So it would be inconsistent to come up with a new methodology now for those customers, but then still reduce the aggregate excess customers' storage allocation by a reduction factor to -- in respect to those customers.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Moving on, then, to the second element of the five elements, which is the proposed alternative.  If you could turn up Union's supplementary evidence, Exhibit A-3 at page 1.  Ms. Passmore, can you summarize for the Board what the proposal is for the alternative method for space allocation?


MS. PASSMORE:  Yes.  The alternative method is really quite simple, is that the amount of allocated cost-based space would be equal to ten times or ten days of the obligated DCQ, and the obligated DCQ is the amount of gas that a customer is obligated to bring on to the system every day.  And then the second component is, is that this allocation would also be refreshed at contract renewal.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Can you tell us what the rationale is for this proposal?


MS. PASSMORE:  Well, the rationale is that the Board was accurate in its findings in the NGEIR decision, is that the storage requirements of at least some of our large industrial commercial requirements certainly has nothing to do with seasonal load balancing needs.


If you -- you could turn to page 12 of 26 of A-1, our original evidence, and it clearly shows that for what we call a process load-type customer, the aggregate excess allocation of storage can be zero.  It can even be negative in some instances.


So Union believes that the proposal, the proposal we created here, 10X DCQ, will now allocate an amount of storage that will -- is in line with the requirements of these process load customers.  And it's in line and it 

is -- the process load fluctuations is in line with what it would be needing.


The DCQ for process load customer already has the load factor built into it.  So what you are really trying to do with the space is to allocate amount of space that will meet the needs for the customers for the days that they consumed less than DCQ or more than their DCQ.  This is a band over and above that obligated gas arriving.


Then we also recognize that in the event of a planned shutdown, these are sophisticated customers and we believe that the customers will continue to have -- within our policy, they will continue to have the transactional services and the deliverability they need to mitigate their supply in the event of a planned shutdown.


The third important proposal, part of this proposal, was the fact that with the 10X DCQ, we're looking at as if we had a customer that kept its storage at a very conservative 50 percent balance.  So if he kept it at a 

50 percent balance in the event of an unexpected shutdown 

-- so this would be -- and in a worst case we're looking at an unexpected shutdown that, let's say, happened on a Thursday of a long weekend, et cetera.  So the customer would be trying to get their plant back up into operation, but with the markets closed, et cetera, they might not have the opportunity to mitigate that gas supply that obviously they're not going to need because of this unplanned shutdown.


So what the plan -- what this proposal was intended to do was to give the customer that space in which to put five days of that supply.  So those were the components of it, and that's why we believe it is a reasonable amount.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Can you tell us how many T1 customers Union estimates may elect to use the 10X DCQ method?


MS. PASSMORE:  Conservatively, we believe there would be 18 customers that would choose this methodology.  Eleven customers seem to be more, let's say, an obvious fit, where seven customers on a year-to-year basis might choose an aggregate excess methodology one year or choose the ten times, whichever I believe would give them the most space.


MS. WONG:  And that is 18 out of 50 T1 customers?


MS. PASSMORE:  Fifty-one.


MS. WONG:  Fifty-one, thank you.


Now, IGUA has filed some evidence indicating that it believes that cost-based space should be set at 38 times DCQ rather than 10X DCQ.  

Mr. MacEacheron, have you done some work to analyze IGUA's proposal?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes, I have.  

MS. WONG:  And you set that out in the reply evidence?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.  That's correct.  

MS. WONG:  Can you turn up the reply evidence please, Exhibit R1, page 14.  

Under the sixth heading:  Why IGUA and APPrO's proposal result in an unreasonable allocation, there is a reference to figure 1, and figure 1 appears on page 15.  

Can you explain to us what figure 1 shows?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.  Figure 1 is a representation of an 80 percent load factor customer, T1 or T3 customer.  

What we have used to prepare this graph is actual consumption data from a T1-T3 customer over the three-year period you see in this graph, 2004 to 2006.  

So we took that actual consumption data and calculated, once we knew the consumption over our one-year period, we were then able to calculate the perfect DCQ for this customer.  And then using that DCQ when the -- we then looked at the customer's consumption against that DCQ and to the extent their consumption was greater than the DCQ, if the consumption was greater than the DCQ, then they would withdraw from storage.  If the consumption was less than DCQ, they would inject into storage.  

If you take a look at the figure 1, the graph, and I'm looking at the left-hand side, it begins April of '04, you can see a dotted line that runs across of the three-quarter mark there.  

That represents a zero activity level line, where they're neither rejecting or withdrawing.  Anything above that line is a net injection into storage.  Anything below that line is a net withdrawal from storage.  

In this customer's example, using their actual data, you can see how this customer just after April start, went into more or less a net injection mode.  And there are a series of net injections over the summertime period.  It's this pattern of net injections that requires a great deal of space which is what the aggregate excess would provide this customer.  

Then as this customer approaches the fall, about Novemberish time frame, the customer then moves into a net withdrawal mode where now they're using the gas they put into storage through the summer period, they're actually using that gas to withdraw to meet their plant needs.  You can see the cycle repeating itself over and over again from 2004, to 2005, to 2006.  

So we believe that this profile is really a good representation of an aggregate excess type customer.  

MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Now, I think you might have misspoke when you first started and said this was a 80 percent load factor customer?


MR. MacEACHERON:  Oh, yes, I did.  I apologize it's a 40 percent load factor customer, a seasonal customer.  

MS. WONG:  Okay, thank you.  Figure 2 which is on the next page, page 16.  Can you tell us what figure 2 shows?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.  Figure 2 depicts the 80 percent load factor customer that I have referred to earlier, actually an 80 percent load factor customer, what we have also called a process load customer.  

This, again, is an actual customer with an 80 percent load factor and we took the actual consumption for that customer over the same three-year period and we modelled it just the same way we did the previous example that I explained.  

As you can see, the injection and withdrawal activity for this customer is dramatically different than the 40 percent customer that I just described.  

In this example, the customer is making a series of net injections and then withdrawing and then injecting and then withdrawing and then injecting.  

And this all has the net effect of reducing the amount of storage that this customer requires, with withdrawals cancelling out the effect of the injection.  

We believe this is an excellent example of a process load 80 percent load factor customer and how they would use storage from an injection-withdrawal point of view.  

MS. WONG:  Okay.  Now, if you just look at the two graphs, 1 and 2, they look very different.  Can you explain why that, the different look of the graphs is -- is that relevant in any way and how is that relevant to the deliverability pattern?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Well, the aggregate excess, you can see the definite sine wave type format reflecting the injection and then withdrawal cycles that are typical aggregate excess or lower load factor, 40 percent type customer would require.  A seasonal customer, where they require a great deal of storage, again, during the summer months and then they need that storage to withdraw gas from in the winter time.  

Whereas the profile on figure 2 shows you how they would use storage on a net injection withdrawal basis and, therefore, require less storage than in the previous graph.  

MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Now, I believe you have a third graph on page 19.  Can you explain to us what the graph on page 19, figure 3, shows?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.  This graph now takes the customer that I just described in figure 2, the 80 percent process load factor customer, and we map now what would the storage balance look like for this customer?  

We saw in the previous figure a series of net injections and withdrawals.  This graph shows what the net impact on the customer's storage balance is.  

If you look at the fluctuating line that crosses the bottom part of the graph, that line is the calculated storage balance for that customer as they supply their obligated DCQ and either inject it or withdraw an amount of gas to complement it to meet an end use requirement.  

Just towards the top part of the fluctuating line, your storage balance line, you can see our proposed ten times allocated space line.  And you can see, from this graph, that the process load customer’s storage balance fits rather nicely within the 10X DCQ allocated space amount.


I have also depicted on this graph at the top part the 38 times DCQ allocated space amount proposed by IGUA.  

You can see in this example that it would provide a significantly greater amount of storage than what you see here.  In this example, it would be about 38,000 gJs more than what this customer otherwise required.  

MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Quigley, I'm working with kind of a faint copy of this figure 3.  Can I just make sure it is the 10X DCQ which is a straight line, I gather, or horizontal line.  

Just to be clear, because I can't read it very well off mine, it cuts off or it -- there are periods in each year but particularly in the first year where the actual storage balance exceeds that for some period of time, first half of 2004.  

MR. MacEACHERON:  That's correct. 

MR. RUPERT:  It also happens in 2006 towards the end of the year or -- 

MR. MacEACHERON:  That's correct.  

MR. RUPERT:  All right.  

MR. MacEACHERON:  If I could add to that, the starting point for this balance, we had to assume a starting point. 

So we assumed a 50 percent full starting point reflecting the comment you heard earlier, regarding what might be a reasonable starting point for a process type customer using 10X DCQ.  

In this case, we made no attempt in plotting this or calculating this to do any transactional activities on the part of the customer.  

This customer, you can see his storage balance curve rising, would likely or should have taken action prior to hitting the amount of storage allocated to them, in this case the ten times.  They would have taken action by suspending their DCQ or purchasing an off-peak storage service, putting it in their hub account or just doing a transfer of inventory to another customer.  We did not attempt to model any of that activity in here. 

MR. RUPERT:  Right, okay, thanks.  

MS. WONG:  Just to pick up on that point, Mr. MacEacheron.  If you go back to page 18 of the evidence, the middle paragraph says that:  
"Semi-unbundled T1-T3 customers are expected to actively manage their storage balance and consistent with this expectation T1-T3 customers have been active in managing their storage balances."


Can you tell us why Union expects T1 customers to actively manage their storage balance?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  That is a fundamental expectation of the T1 service.  It is a more sophisticated service than our bundled service.  

Customers who move to our T1 service are typically customers who have done so because they want to realize a cost savings from the bundled service that they were previously on.  

When you look at how balancing costs are allocated to the bundled rate classes, balancing costs are allocated on the full rate class basis.  So if you are a member of the bundled rate class and your load factor may be a bit higher than the average therefore you might actually require less cost than what is allocated to the entire rate class, you might see a benefit to moving to T1 service and, therefore, assume the responsibility of balancing your own requirements.


That is really one of the fundamental principles underpinning our T1 service, is that the customer will, upon moving to T1, undertake more active management of their T1 service.


I can take you to a table at the end of our supplementary evidence --


MS. WONG:  Reply evidence, you mean?


MR. MacEACHERON:  Reply evidence.  It's Exhibit R1, attachment 1.


In this attachment, we have provided the three basic services that an industrial customer would look to Union to provide on a direct purchase basis, the bundled service on the left, the semi-unbundled T1-T3 service in the centre and the unbundled service on the far right.


You can almost look at this table from the point of view of a responsibility grid, as well.  As you move from left to right, the responsibility associated with managing the balancing function increases, with the least amount of responsibility in the bundled to the most amount of balancing responsibility in the unbundled.


The semi-unbundled customer in the centre definitely has a hands-on expectation as far as balancing their load requirements versus their end use planned consumption.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Now, can you tell us when T1 service was first offered by Union?


MR. MacEACHERON:  T1 service was first offered in the late '80s, 1980s.


MS. WONG:  Ms. Passmore, have there been any changes in the market since 1986, or thereabouts, when the T1 service came in that affect the way T1 customers manage their storage and how they use their storage?


MS. PASSMORE:  Well, certainly.  We can look at a few points.


In 1986, customers who would have gone to T1 would have had 100 percent TransCanada capacity upstream, so they would have sourced their gas in Empress and delivered at 100 percent load factor to Parkway.


Less than 10 percent of our T1 customers now source their gas at Empress, and the vast majority of the customers actually have taken advantage of opportunities to turn back TransCanada capacity.  What that means is, as TransCanada contracts came up for renewal at Union Gas, we offered to customers saying, you know, Did you want us to renew on your behalf or could you meet your obligation at Parkway through another means?  Customers had indicated they did want us to turn this capacity back.  


So Union is not privy to how customers are meeting that capacity at Parkway.  So they have no commitment from Union to deliver on the long haul.


You also see that in 1986 there was no market trading at Dawn.  I mean, there certainly wasn't the type of activity at Dawn and at Parkway.  In the earliest tracking I could find of liquidity or transactional trading happening at Dawn was in 1995. 


At 1995, there is about half a Bcf a day we have recorded of name changes or title transfers taking place at Dawn.  So that is for the point of liquidity of the market.


In 2006 and 2007, there is about closer to 6.9 Bcf a day of gas that is trading hands at Dawn, and there is over 100 active market participants at Dawn.  So there is certainly much more opportunities for customers to manage where their gas supply and manage the balancing of their gas supply.


Inherent in there being no market trading at Dawn in 1986, then there wouldn't have been the transactional services, so the services that Union offers a customer, and that is the ability to, you know, take advantage of suspensions or to take advantage of incremental supply when the customers need it.


Finally, you get to the point where we have computers on every desktop in 2006 versus 1986, and the T1 customer has access to almost real-time metering.  They have access to going to Unionline, which is Union's information system, and they can do daily nominations, and they also can see their daily consumption numbers.  They can see where their storage position is.  


So T1 customers no longer need to wait for a monthly paper report or anything like that from Union.  They can certainly manage their own accounts.


Then, finally, you have online trading, and we have online trading so that with the, you know, transparency of market pricing, that even small customers can manage their gas supply obligations.  So I would say those are really the biggest changes from 1986.


MS. WONG:  On that same page, at the top of the page, it talks about the 10X obligated -- the customer could have managed its storage balance to stay below the 10X obligated DCQ amount.  The customer being discussed there is the customer that we saw in figure 3, and there are some examples given as to how the customer could have managed to stay below the 10X amount.  An example --


MS. CAMPBELL:  Excuse me, Ms. Wong, are you back on page 18 of Exhibit R1?


MS. WONG:  Yes, I am.  Sorry.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


MS. WONG:  Do I need to give everyone time to get back there?


Back on page 18, there are some references to some transactions that could have been done, shedding supply, transferring existing inventory.


Ms. Passmore, could you just briefly explain to us what those transactions entail and just sort of explain what they are?


MS. PASSMORE:  All right.  Well, means for which to shed supply I guess would be -- some of them are is that you could request an authorization to do an ex-franchise diversion of your obligated DCQ, and, at times when the system -- Union's system integrity doesn't require that gas to arrive at Parkway, the ex-franchise diversion is essentially a name change that takes place at Parkway, so the gas never really arrives on Union's system.


Whereas an assignment is really almost always authorized, because essentially what the customer is doing is requesting permission that, yes, that gas will arrive at Parkway, but it will be credited to another customer -- in-franchise customer's account.  So they're assigning the DCQ to that customer.


MS. WONG:  Okay.  And how easy or how hard is it for customers to do these kinds of transactions?


MS. PASSMORE:  Well, from the Union Gas perspective, the customer would need to contact their account rep, request an authorization and, as I indicated, when the system doesn't require it for system integrity reasons, it's very easy to get that authorization from their customer.


Then either the customer would do it or they would work with their marketer to actually sell the gas.


MS. WONG:  Is Union aware of any T1 customers having marketers and using marketers, Mr. MacEacheron?


MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes, certainly.  In fact, all T1 customers, I would suggest, use a marketer for their supplier of molecules, and for balancing services and transactional ease, as well.


MS. WONG:  Do you have any information about T1 customers using marketers to do the kinds of transactions that Ms. Passmore was just talking about?


MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes, absolutely.  They routinely perform those transactions.


In fact, as we have noted on page 18 of Exhibit R1, over 30 percent of the obligated supply brought in in 2006 was either shed, or equivalent of that was either shed or brought in as incremental supply.  So our T1 customers are very active and do use marketers to facilitate that transactional activity.


MS. WONG:  Now, Union is also proposing some additional flexibility.  Will the flexibility impact or be relevant in any way to these type of transactions?


MS. PASSMORE:  Most certainly.


MS. WONG:  Ms. Passmore?


MS. PASSMORE:  Did you want me to describe the flexibility?


MS. WONG:  We will get into that in more detail, but can you just sort of explain generally if it will impact on the --


MS. PASSMORE:  It will definitely increase the amount of flexibility.  It will create actually a firm component of the customer's ability to enter into these transactional activities, because it is important to recognize that even when a customer receives an authorization notice or, you know, an authorization from Union, currently our transactional activities are considered to be interruptible.


An important part of this flexibility proposal here is to give customers access to use some of these services on a firm basis, depending on the month of the year.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Now, let me just flag for the Board that I had indicated earlier I had some customer graphs that were of a confidential nature.  Those are similar to the graphs that we see on page 19, so I will deal with those in the confidential portion.


Now, moving on, then, to the third of the five elements to the proposal, which is the proposal with respect to deliverability being set at 1.2 percent for the alternative method.  That's dealt with in Union's supplementary evidence, A3 at page 5.


Mr. Quigley, can you explain what Union understands the term "deliverability" to mean and why it's relevant to the semi-unbundled customers?


MR. QUIGLEY:  Certainly.  To Union, deliverability is a negotiated contract parameter between Union Gas and the customer.


The relevance of the term to the semi-unbundled customer is that it represents the amount of gas that the customers can track to be able to inject into or withdraw from storage on a given day.


MS. WONG:  And what is the proposal for deliverability for at the 10 times DCQ customer?


MR. QUIGLEY:  The proposal is the customer has the ability to contract for whatever level of deliverability that they so choose.  Keeping in mind that the deliverability above Union's standard of 1.2 percent would be at market rates but that the total deliverability that they contract for would have the additional flexibility that's been -- has been laid out in this proposal.  

MS. WONG:  Okay.  So up to the first 1.2 percent would be an at cost price then anything over 1.2 that the customer wanted would be available but at market prices?  

MR. QUIGLEY:  Exactly.  

MS. WONG:  Okay.  Can you explain to us why Union thinks the standard cost-based rate should stay or should be set at 1.2.  

MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes, certainly.  That is laid out fairly succinctly in our supplementary evidence from pages 5 through 13 but I will briefly talk to a couple of main points.  

We believe that the 1.2 percent standard cost-based deliverability is consistent with some the following factors.  Number 1 is the system design and operations.  Of the approximately 20 storage pools that Union operates at Dawn, the vast majority of these pools are what we call base load pools.  They provide on average 1.2 percent firm deliverability.  

What that means is that at an inventory balance equal to or greater than 20 percent, those pools can deliver 1.2 percent of their capability of their capacity on a given day.  

Now, these base load pools are used to support Union's northern and eastern operations then the southern operations all of our bundled services, T1-T3 services and our non-peaking component of our M2 and U2 services. 

As well, these pools support the storage that is sold into the ex-franchise market, as well.  

Because the total deliverability is constrained by these physical limitations, Union feels that there must be some limitation placed on the cost-based deliverability for consistency and fairness, reasons that's available to semi-unbundled and unbundled customers.  

Secondly, we looked at -- Union looked at the deliverability of comparable services.  On the in-franchise side, the new large T1, U7 customers with non-obligated DCQ that were part of the NGEIR settlement agreement, they have the standard deliverability at 1.2 percent that was negotiated as part of the settlement agreement.  

The aggregate excess customers, the Board has accepted that they have a standard deliverability of 1.2 percent and you can find that reference in the NGEIR decision at pages 66 and 67.  

As well, the unbundled services that came out of the unbundling settlement agreement back in, through the RP-1999-0017 settlement, contained standard deliverability of 1.2 percent.  

As well, in the ex-franchise market, Union's ex-franchise contracts are marketed with 1.2 percent standard deliverability as well.  So we feel the comparable services to this semi-unbundled and unbundled services are all out there at 1.2 percent standard deliverability now. 

The third thing we looked at is the industry practice.  So we took a look at what other service, storage service providers in the marked area were offering.  The 1.2 percent deliverability can be thought of as approximately a 90-day service.  So that is, you can empty your storage in approximately 90 days, give or take, depending on the ratchets in the storage contract, but it is a 90 to 92 day service.   

If you turn to table 1 on page 12 this supplementary evidence, we looked at what other storage operators in the area were -- had offered in recent open-season, long-term storage open-season offerings.  You can see that there is variability, but that Union's 90-day service is definitely consistent with what's been offered in the marketplace by these comparable service providers.  

As well, just out of the -- at the NGEIR proceeding as we noted on page 13, evidence was filed by other parties.  Enbridge filed prefiled evidence and gave oral testimony stating that 1.2 percent was considered the standard rate of deliverability and as well MHP Canada testified that 1.2 percent from their perspective was regarded as a standard rate of deliverability.



MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Now, APPrO had made some proposals relating to deliverability and Union responded to those proposals in the reply evidence at R-1, page 24.  

In the interests of time, I'm not going to ask Ms. Passmore to take us through all of them, but perhaps you can briefly summarize some of Union's concerns with respect to APPrO's proposal.  Page 24 of R-1.  

MS. PASSMORE:  Well, APPrO's proposal, I think, is fairly fundamental.  The proposal is, is the foundation of the proposal is that cost-based injection and withdrawal entitlement should equal CD minus the obligated DCQ.  

What becomes interesting about this, it means that as the customers' load factor deteriorates, the entitlement to cost-based deliverability would increase, all right.  

APPrO, in their own evidence indicated, for the NUGs that have operated at high capacity factors to date, that they will likely have lower factors in the future as they become more dispatchable.  

Their evidence even suggested that factors could be in the 50 percent range and for some of the new co-gens coming on, the load factors could be in the 25 to 50 percent range.  

So this would then suggest that Union would be required to allocate cost-based deliverability to these customers that could meet anywhere from 50 to 75 percent of their peak day demand at any point in time.  

So that has some concerns.  In the examples that APPrO provided, some of the examples actually resulted in deliverability in excess of 10 percent.  

Union just -- as Mr. Quigley just indicated, we just don't have the physical capability to allocate 10 percent deliverability to all of our T1 customers.  

So new high deliverability service to meet this type of demand will be offered as a competitive market service and that was decided in the NGEIR decision.  

So then that is really the component.  That is really the fundamental of the APPrO proposal.  But it goes on to suggest that if Union does not allocate deliverability at this level, then there are two other remedies to this.  One of the remedies would be that Union would provide preauthorized storage overrun injection from any amount of gas that is arriving on the system that is not consumed on that day.  And that the cost of this injection would be at just a regular commodity rate, injection commodity fee.  

Union doesn't believe this is actually viable.  I mean, this is asking Union to set aside injection capability on a firm basis, just in case the generators need it, and then not only Union sets this aside in case the customers need it but not to be paid a demand charge for it.  That’s because injection commodity fees do not include any type of commoditized demand charge.    

So in fact we're seating aside firm assets not to recover our costs on them.  So there is some concern about that aspect of the proposal.  

Then the other remedy for not providing the cost-based deliverability as proposed by APPrO is that Union would, in effect, buy back gas at Parkway on the days that Union needs it for system integrity but the generator deemed they wouldn't need it.  

This, again, causes some concerns.  The obligated customer is already receiving the benefit of that obligated delivery in their rates, in the avoided cost of facilities.  So the customer is already receiving the benefit of that.



Secondly, is that Union's system is not short.  We don't need the gas, right.  This gas is arriving at Parkway, is arriving to meet east end delivery obligations, so the fact that Union certainly would not short our gas supply plan based on variable deliverabilities in case a generator doesn't need it.  

So those are really our chief concerns with our proposal.  

MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Now moving on to the fifth element which is the additional flexibility.  

MS. CHAPLIN:  Ms. Wong, if I could interrupt.  I have a couple of questions of clarification on the deliverability.  I guess two really.  

I guess it was Mr. MacEacheron describing the ten times or maybe it was Ms. Passmore describing the 10X DCQ as sort of providing a customer with an opportunity to put away five days' worth of supply assuming that they were starting with the 50 percent inventory balance.  Can that be accomplished with 1.2 percent deliverability?  

MS. PASSMORE:  I would say it can't necessarily be accomplished, but Union at any point in time that we could handle it would be prepared to offer the customer injection overrun.  Right.  Injection overrun is a very viable service rather than paying a constant demand charge for injection.  

So that is what we see as a very viable alternative to that. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  But the 1.2 percent on its own would not be sufficient?  

Okay.  I guess sort of a comparable question.  Looking at the charts on page 15 and 16 of R-1 where it is showing, in the case of figure 1, the seasonal customer and in the case of figure 2, the process customer.  

Can those profiles, under the 10X DCQ and the aggregate excess methodologies, can those profiles -- can the 1.2 percent deliverability accommodate those profiles?  Or again, would other means or other measures need to be taken?


MR. MacEACHERON:  Looking at figure 1, the seasonal customer using the aggregate excess, the 1.2 percent would handle a good number of them, but that customer may require additional deliverability, and that would certainly be available.  And in our proposal, we're proposing it be available at market rates, or there is other means of managing either a net injection or a net withdrawal, similar-type activity, using other services.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  I guess the answer is the same for the process customer in figure 2?


MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.  And, again, to the extent that the 1.2 percent is not -- that we would not limit that customer to that.  If that is the way they chose to contract with us, we would offer anything above 1.2 percent at a market rate.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Right.  I am just trying to understand the comparability between how people are operating today and what would be available to them on a cost-based basis under your proposals.  So I just wanted to make sure I understand.


Thank you.


MS. WONG:  Moving on, then, to the fourth element, which is the additional flexibility.  That's described in A-1 at page 25 and amplified in the reply evidence at R-1, page 2.


We will just ask Ms. Passmore to deal with the reply evidence.  So if you turn up R-1, page 2.  Ms. Passmore, can you describe what the proposal is with respect to flexibility, please?


MS. PASSMORE:  In its simplest form, it is -- as part of our proposal, it's reflecting the fact that if we are charging market prices for deliverability in excess of 1.2 percent, the customers would be able to access that deliverability in the same manner.  They would be able to use the service in the same manner closer to the ex-franchise service, so where an ex-franchise customer pays market prices for deliverability, we're beginning to mimic how they would be able to use it.


MS. WONG:  Okay.  What is the current situation with respect to how contract T1 customers can use their contracted deliverability?


MS. PASSMORE:  The deliverability right now at cost-based rates is certainly tied to the meter, all right.  So the deliverability there is to serve the customer, to inject the gas that the customer is bringing on into the system or to withdraw for consumption.


But this is managed by Union, and you will hear us, through this proceeding, talk about the T1 allocation.  That's -- when we refer to it, when we refer to the allocation process, it is at the end of the day.  And it's at the end of a day if a customer brings 10 gJs onto the system and he burns 8 gJs that day, we actually go through a process and we say, okay, they net injected two, and the customer -- the customer did not nominate an injection.  He did not nominate a withdrawal to his plant.  He brought his obligated DCQ of ten on.  He burned eight.  At the end of the day, the paperwork will indicate he net injected two and he would be charged for net injection of two.


So that is the same way with the -- a withdrawal.  That same customer brought an obligated DCQ of ten on.  He burned 14 that day.  He did not nominate that consumption to the plant, but, at the end of the day, the allocation process, we run the math and say he net withdrawaled the four.  The customer would be charged the withdrawal commodity fee on four.


But right now, the customer doesn't have to -- if a customer was going to bring that ten on and say, I know I'm only going to burn six tomorrow, right, so that's only going to be six being brought out.  Let me nominate the rest of my firm withdrawal to market.


Right now, that is not a firm part of their service.  The service is only firm for managing the obligated DCQ going into the ground or it's firm for making sure that the gas gets to the plant.


This proposal -- within the proposal, we are suggesting that the customer would be able to go in and go through Unionline.  They would not have to request an authorization notice.  For any excess deliverability, so if they didn't think they would be using all of their injection rights through the allocation methodology or they didn't think that at the end of the day that all of their nomination parameters would be used through the allocation methodology, that they could actually nominate to use it.  


So they could nominate injection to take advantage of low gas prices if they wanted to bring some extra gas in.  They could nominate a withdrawal to Dawn to sell gas at Dawn if they wanted to take advantage of some market prices.  


And as we have indicated in the evidence, this service is being proposed to be structured as most of the ex-franchise storage services, and that would be that this right to inject firm would be every month except October and November, which are the peak injection seasons, and they would be able to nominate firm withdrawals for every month except March and April.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.


Now, could customers use this additional flexibility to use third party providers for deliverability above 1.2 percent?


MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, they could.


MS. WONG:  Could you tell us how they could do that?


MS. PASSMORE:  We tried to explain that in one of our illustrations here.


Let's go to -- I will try to make this as simple as possible.  In our reply evidence, page 7, at the very top of page 7, it is illustration no. 3.  I am trying to illustrate here how you can use this flexibility to actually create "deliverability", quote/unquote.


Here you had where -- and let's walk through the current scenario, all right?  Let's say...


Okay.  It's the month of September, let's say, here.  So the customer has cost-based firm injection withdrawal of 300 on his current scenario, so he is paying a demand charge for 300 gJs 12 months of the year.


The DCQ in both scenarios is 2000, and the consumption in both scenarios is 2,300 gJs.  So the firm rights of the customer right now is to bring on that DCQ of 2,000.  He burns his 2,300 and, at the end of the day, Union would have allocated a 300 gJ withdrawal.  So he would have paid a demand charge on the 300 gJs, and the commodity charge for that day would have been for a 300 gJ withdrawal.


One of the ways that the customer can mimic being able to withdraw that 300 is to take advantage of the injection rights that he would have.  What we are saying is that -- so this customer has said, I'm only going to contract for 150 gJs of injection and withdrawal.  My DCQ is still 2,000, but knowing what I am going to burn tomorrow, I am going to nominate incremental supply at Dawn or an injection of 150 gJs.  I don't have to ask for Union's position.  It could be getting into late season injection in September, but I have that firm right in the month of September.  


The customer then consumes his 2,300 gJs, but as you walk the math down, Union only needs to allocate a storage withdrawal of 150, because the DCQ of 2,000 came on the system, plus the 150 that the customer had full control of bringing onto the system; could have arranged firm at any point in time, because he knew he had that firm injection parameter during that month; burned his 2,300.  And Union, at the end of the day, only allocates a storage withdrawal of 150.


So what has happened for the customer now, in this case, is he is only paying the demand charge on the 150, 12 months of the year, and he is only paying a commodity charge for that day to withdraw the 150.


So, essentially, his storage deliverability costs were half the costs on the deliverability flexibility scenario for that day than they would be under the current scenario.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.


Unless there are any questions on that point, I am moving on to the final element of the proposal.


MS. CHAPLIN:  You must have read my mind.  I do have one question.


They would have to pay for the -- albeit they are not paying it to Union, but they are having to pay the incremental 150 gJs?


MS. PASSMORE:  Certainly.  They're paying gas supply from someone.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Now, just to make sure I am clear, this additional flexibility is only available to those customers who contract for at least some deliverability at market-based rates?


MS. PASSMORE:  No.  We are proposing, with the reallocation of -- this whole proposal would include this to be for all T1 customers.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So if I was a T1 customer and 

I -- and Union's proposal is accepted, and I just contract for 1.2 percent deliverability, I would still have --


MS. PASSMORE:  Yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thanks.


MS. WONG:  The final element, then, is the transition proposal.  That is in A-1, pages 22 and 23.  Mr. MacEacheron, that is yours.  Can you explain what it is for us please? 

MR. MacEACHERON:  At the end of the day when the Board decides on an allocation methodology, that methodology will be used to determine the amount of space that is reasonable, the balance of the customer’s constant supply, their obligated DCQ with their varying end use demand. 

Because we are now proposing to implement this every year at renewal and because there are a number of customers, about 21 grandfathered customers who have allocations of storage as the Board noted that bears no resemblance to aggregate excess, those customers mentioned to us when we met with them that, and discussed our thinking on this proposal, that, wait a minute, at renewal, I might have a problem managing this.  What if I have more gas than the new amount that you allocate to me.  There is going to be an initial maybe shock to the system, to my system, being the customer, if this is implemented and I can't transition in a smooth way.  

We also noted that the Board wanted to implement this in a controlled manner, as well.  So with that in mind, we have proposed a transition mechanism whereby we will offer our grandfathered T1 customers storage at renewal priced at an off-peak rate, regardless of what time it is, what time of the year it is.  So it could be a peak storage period, it could be an off-peak period.  But if it is a peak period -- and that is actually when most of our T1s renew -- then we will offer them a storage service to accommodate any surplus gas that has been brought in through their obligated deliveries to Union and they can then transition that surplus supply through that storage season to the next storage season and then the adjustment will have been made.  

MS. WONG:  If I could just note for the Board a couple of corrections to the evidence. 

Page 23 of A-1, this evidence had been filed in March of 2007 and time has caught up with us, so the years need to be changed.  So where it says March 31, 2008 that should be March 31, 2009.  Where it says winter 2007/2008, that should be winter 2008/2009 for the transition provisions.  

Now, Mr. MacEacheron, IGUA has proposed in its evidence that the transition to lower levels of space should be gradual and in amounts no greater than five times DCQ per year.  

Union had filed some reply evidence on that proposal, it's at R-1, page 21.  

Can you explain why Union does not believe that IGUA's proposal for gradual transition is appropriate?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Well, at the bottom of page 21, we note that the allocation methodology that's currently in place, the aggregate excess methodology is expected to continue into the future and all of our T1 customers, about 23 of them who went T1 service post the settlement agreement in June 2000, have been allocated storage based on the aggregate excess methodology.  

So the transition that we're proposing here is to transition our grandfathered customers to an allocation that the majority of our T1 customers have today.  

So we were concerned about an equity issue there.  If you turn to page 22, with respect to IGUA's proposal, we think that a transition for a period of time longer than one year simply inappropriate, given, again, that we're transitioning to a methodology that is already in place today.  

At the end of the day what we will be transitioning these customers to is a level of storage, an amount of storage that the Board would have deemed reasonable to manage their obligated supply and balancing that against their planned consumptions.  So we're transitioning them to a level of storage that is deemed to be reasonable by the Board.  

So to continue that beyond the one-year period, to continue to allocate customers an amount of storage greater than that, would simply be unfair to those customers today that have that and would delay getting to what is already considered to be, by the Board in its decision in this proceeding, to be a reasonable amount of storage.  

MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions.  

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

MR. RUPERT:  One clarification, Mr. Quigley or Mr. MacEacheron.  The March 31, 2009 date, now, when do most of your T1 contracts expire?  I had the impression they were sort of November 1 to October 31, a lot of them. 

MR. MacEACHERON:  That's correct. 

MR. RUPERT:  That would mean that date of March 31, 2009 would pick up all contracts coming up for renewal November 1st, 2008?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  That's correct.  

MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  Thanks.  

MR. THOMPSON:  I think Mr. Moran would like to go first.  

MR. KAISER:  All right, Mr. Moran.  

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  

Before I start, perhaps I could have a document marked as an exhibit.  I will be referring to it in the course of my cross.  Mr. Schuch has a number of copies for the panel.  

MR. SCHUCH:  Mr. Chair, I propose that we label our Exhibits HD1, for hearing day 1.  This exhibit will be labelled HD1.1.  And we will call it -- 

MR. MORAN:  Example 1 and example 2 of a generator in the Union franchise territory.  
EXHIBIT NO. HD1.1:  EXAMPLE 1 AND EXAMPLE 2 OF A GENERATOR IN THE UNION FRANCHISE TERRITORY 

MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you, Mr. Moran.  

MR. MORAN:  I don't know if the picture is in high-definition or not, Mr. Chair.  
Cross-examination by Mr. Moran:

MR. MORAN:  Ms. Passmore, let me start with you.  

I would like to turn to page 9 of Exhibit A1.  This is with respect to the three principles that you identified that guide the storage allocation methodologies that you have proposed.  I would like to ask you a question about number 2.  

First of all, at line 4 and 5, it indicates:  
"Union's assessment of the appropriateness of the aggregate excess method and any new storage allocation approach for all customers was guided by three key principles."


Turning to the second one:  

"Cost-based storage is required to balance a customer's obligated supply (obligated DCQ), with varying end use (that is seasonal consumption)."


I take it that this principle is not confined just to the balancing of seasonal end use variances it is also an applicable principle for variances in process?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, it is.  

MR. MORAN:  So perhaps that "i.e." should have been an "e.g."? 

MS. PASSMORE:  That’s correct.  

MR. MORAN:  I just wanted to clarify that, thank you.  

So when it comes to the kind of storage required to balance a generator, then clearly the principle as it would apply to a generator would be with respect to the process variations that generators typically experience; correct?  

MS. PASSMORE:  That's correct.  

MR. MORAN:  And as part of that, you would be adopting what I believe the Board found in the NGEIR decision, the fact that generators face intraday variances; correct?  

MS. PASSMORE:  That's correct.  

MR. MORAN:  All right.  I would like to take you now to page 24 of the same exhibit, Exhibit A1.  

At the bottom of page 24 and over onto page 25, you are discussing deliverability access rights where you indicate that T1 and T3 customers would continue to receive no notice service and can consume up to its contracted firm CD at any time during the day.  

On page 25, on line 4 and 5 you state:

"These Union managed injections and withdrawals will continue to be firm up to the contracted level of deliverability each day of the year."


Is that a reference to 1.2 percent deliverability storage?  

MS. PASSMORE:  That's a reference to the level of deliverability that the customers contracted for. 

MR. MORAN:  What kind of deliverability would that be?  

MS. PASSMORE:  It could be a firm deliverability that the customers contracted for.  

MR. MORAN:  At cost?  Or at market based prices?


MS. PASSMORE:  It could be either one.  Our proposal is 1.2 percent of that would be at cost.  Anything above that would be at market, but it would be the total amount that would be -- that these two sentences are referring to.


MR. MORAN:  I see.  Thank you.


Turning then to your reply evidence, Exhibit R1, 

page 4.  At the paragraph that starts at the bottom of page 3 and over on to page 4, you make a reference to injections of incremental supply being firm in all months except October and November, while incremental withdrawals from storage would be firm in all months except March and April.  


We're not talking about the same kind of storage anymore, are we, that we were just talking about a minute ago?


MS. PASSMORE:  You're going to have to clarify that question for me.


MR. MORAN:  What we just looked at in Exhibit A1, we were talking about firm every day, all year; right?


MS. PASSMORE:  We were talking about firm to the plant.


MR. MORAN:  Right.


MS. PASSMORE:  These parameters are what I attempted to explain with the illustration, is where the customer could nominate firm incremental supply using its injection parameters, and, that's correct, could nominate a firm withdrawal to Dawn, to sell into the ex-franchise.  To the plant, up to the contracted amount of deliverability, is firm, 365 days.


MR. MORAN:  Right.


MS. PASSMORE:  That is through that allocation process I spoke of.  The customer does not have to nominate consumption.


MR. MORAN:  What we see on page 4 is something that has to be nominated and is in addition to that; right?


MS. PASSMORE:  Correct.


MR. MacEACHERON:  It's not firm all year; right?


MS. PASSMORE:  That's correct.


MR. MORAN:  I think you indicated in response to a question from Ms. Chaplin that in order to get access to this kind of injection withdrawal rights, the generator wouldn't have to sign up for market-priced high deliverability; right?


MS. PASSMORE:  As part of this proposal, market price deliverability being accepted for deliverability over 1.2 percent, the proposal is that this would be allowed to all T1 customers no matter what level of deliverability they contract for.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  And how would this be charged to the customer if the customer wanted to take advantage of this additional withdrawal injection rights?


MS. PASSMORE:  It's part of what they have paid for already; right?  It's not over on -- like, if you've got -- if you use your withdrawal capability and you know that you're going to use it in the allocation for consumption, you don't have it again; right?  So it is excess to what you need to already meet your withdrawal, your net withdrawal at the end of the day.


MR. MORAN:  So if I understand what you're saying, then, these incremental withdrawal and injection rights are at no additional cost and are firm all year except for the months indicated?


MS. PASSMORE:  That's correct.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  I would like to turn up now Exhibit A-3, your supplementary evidence, at page 5.  This is part of the section in which you are describing customer options for managing storage.  On page 5, starting at the top, there are a number of bullet points.  I would like to understand each one of these and how they work.


The first one relates to -- is called suspend supply.  I wonder if you could indicate whether that is something that a generator has to get authorization for. 


MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, it is.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  What are the factors that are taken into account in order to understand whether Union will grant that authorization or not?


MS. PASSMORE:  For any of these services that are interruptible transactional services -- well, that's incorrect.  The injection overrun.  Suspend supply, assignment of DCQ, diversion of DCQ, these are all services that the obligated customer can take advantage of if the system does not require that obligated delivery to arrive for system integrity purposes.


MR. MORAN:  So Union has the option to say no?


MS. PASSMORE:  Union would only say no if the system needed the gas and couldn't work with the gas not arriving at Parkway.  It is not an option. 


MR. MORAN:  And moving to the second one, assignment of DCQ, again, the generator would require Union's authorization to assign; correct?


MS. PASSMORE:  It does indicate that in the sentence, yes.


Suspension, assignment and diversion are transactional services that require authorization notice, and they would not be unduly not accepted by Union.


MR. MORAN:  Again, there is the possibility that Union is able to say no; right?


MS. PASSMORE:  Well, the assignment of DCQ actually is one that would actually be firm.  It wouldn't be one that would really be interruptible, because that is gas still arriving at Parkway and coming onto the system.  It is simply going to another in-franchise customer, all right?  But the suspension of supply and diversion, if Union did need the gas at the east end and the customer who has already received the benefit of the avoided cost of facilities in their delivery rate would be expected to meet their obligation to deliver that gas.


MR. MORAN:  So the assignment of DCQ is firm?


MS. PASSMORE:  No.  It is still an interruptible service.


MR. MORAN:  Sorry, perhaps I misheard you, then.  So authorization is required for assignment to another customer?


MS. PASSMORE:  It is, but it's a fairly moot point, actually.  We could probably make the assignment a firm service.


MR. MORAN:  I think you just touched on the third bullet point, diversion of DCQ.  Again, this would require authorization from Union; correct?


MS. PASSMORE:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  And so it is possible that Union would say no?


MS. PASSMORE:  Only if the system required it for system integrity reasons.


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Then the fourth bullet point, injection overrun, does that require Union authorization?


MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, it does.  And, once again, Union would not unduly withhold authorization.  It is only if the system can't handle it.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  So the four bullet points we just discussed all require Union authorization, which takes me then to the fifth one, acquire a market-based storage service.


I take it the customer would not need Union's authorization to acquire a market-based storage service; correct?


MS. PASSMORE:  No, it would not.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  I would like to turn now to page 6 of the same exhibit, A-3.


This is a question you may need to provide an answer through an undertaking, but I will leave that to you.


The last sentence in the first paragraph states -- it says:

"This means that on average Union is only able to withdraw a maximum of 1.2 percent of the total amount of gas stored in the base load pools during a 24-hour period."


Do you recall what the evidence was at the NGEIR proceeding with respect to the average deliverability of the Union storage system, in total?


MS. PASSMORE:  I am going to turn that to Mr. Quigley.


MR. QUIGLEY:  I believe it was 1.5 percent, was the number.


MR. MORAN:  Are you sure about that?


MR. QUIGLEY:  No.


MR. MORAN:  So perhaps you could just undertake to report on that?


MS. WONG:  Yes, we will do that.


MR. SCHUCH:  Mr. Chair, that will be undertaking HDU1.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. HDU1.1:  TO PROVIDE EVIDENCE FROM NGEIR PROCEEDING RE AVERAGE DELIVERABILITY OF UNION'S STORAGE SYSTEM.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. MORAN:  Just while we're on the point, it is fair to say that when the storage pools are full that you can withdraw gas more easily, because you have the advantage of the pressure in the pool; correct?


MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.


MR. MORAN:  So, functionally, deliverability could be higher than 1.2 percent under those circumstances?


MR. QUIGLEY:  For the overall system, potentially, including the high deliverability pools that Union has, but on average the base load pools can only firm deliver 1.2 percent.


MR. MORAN:  When you say "on average", that is over the course of the year as opposed to all the time; correct?


MR. QUIGLEY:  I'm not sure.


MR. MORAN:  When the pools are empty, it's fair to say that you can inject gas more easily, and so you might be able to deliver it a more -- at a higher rate than 

1.2 percent, again, for the same physical reason; correct?


MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.


MR. MORAN:  I would like to turn to page 10 in the same exhibit, A-3.


Now, I would like to understand a little bit more about how the example would work as you have set it out on page 10.


So if we assume, for the purposes of this example, that the DCQ is 100 units, then obviously if there is a shutdown, consumption is going to be zero.  And if nothing is done by the customer, you would deem that to be an injection into storage; correct?  

MS. PASSMORE:  That's correct.  

MR. MORAN:  Of 100 units. 

MS. PASSMORE:  That's correct.  

MR. MORAN:  Then you talk about a firm withdrawal from storage of an amount equal to the DCQ, so we're talking about firm, a firm withdrawal amount equal to 100 units in this example; correct?  

MS. PASSMORE:  That's correct.  

MR. MORAN:  And what would be the cost associated with doing that?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Well, it would determine if -- well, it would be the withdrawal at Dawn and then there would be, in the month of -- did we put a month on this?  Do we know...
December?  

MR. MORAN:  In your example you have December.  

MS. PASSMORE:  Okay.  In the month of December, the customer would be able to withdraw at Dawn and I am assuming that there is no system integrity problems that Dawn send out.  So the customer could request authorized overrun.  So if at any part of that 100 gJs was over his amount of normally contracted deliverability, I guess we haven't talked about that yet, is what is the assumption in the amount of deliverability the customer had contracted for, which 1.2 percent would be at cost.  Over that would be at market.  

Then if the customer still required more he could request authorized overrun.  Once again, that wouldn't be unduly withheld.  

MR. MORAN:  So this would be at a mix of cost and market-based -- 

MS. PASSMORE:  It would -- yes.  It would really depend on what the customer contracted for.

MR. MORAN:  If the customer didn't have enough gas in storage, would the customer be able to get firm injection rights to make that up?  

MS. PASSMORE:  In December?  Certainly.  

MR. MORAN:  I would like to turn now to Exhibit HD1.1 that was just handed out.  

I would like to start with example 1, which is a generator in the Union franchise that is served by a lateral off the Union Dawn-Trafalgar system, as indicated.  

What I would like to do is go through the four variations on this scenario that are marked A, B, C and D.  I would like to start with A.  

If I can arrange -- if I am the generator, served by a lateral, owned by Union, that connects with the Union Dawn-Trafalgar system and I can arrange with TCPL for firm all-day services delivered to Parkway, will I be able to integrate that with my T1 service?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Okay.  At this point in time, my understanding is FTSN would be a dedicated meter.  So I am not understanding your examples when you have FTSN arriving at Parkway and Kirkwall through the meters.  Right.  FTSN has been described as a service that has to have a dedicated meter.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  So assume a FTSN meter at Parkway.


MS. PASSMORE:  Okay.


MR. MORAN:  In scenario A.


MS. PASSMORE:  Tell me what the customer is doing.  

MR. MORAN:  Customer is contracting with TCPL for intraday balancing services and the question is, can a customer integrate that with its T1 service from Union.  

MS. PASSMORE:  Well, the customer can certainly, at this point in time, has the -- I'm assuming he is using this for supply.  I would need some further example of what you are asking me, Mr. Moran.  

MR. MORAN:  As you are aware, TransCanada Pipelines has received approval to provide short notice balancing services.  

MS. PASSMORE:  That's correct. 

MR. MORAN:  Also the short notice intraday firm transportation.  I am focussing on the short notice balancing services. 

If those short notice balancing services can be provided by TransCanada Pipeline at Parkway, can you integrate that short notice intraday balancing service with my T1 service?  

MS. PASSMORE:  At this point in time, I could use, today, right now, we have the four NAESB windows that the customer could use to ratchet his supply up and down with TransCanada, which is what I am assuming the customer would be doing. 

As I indicated in our reply evidence and I indicated during the technical conference, Union Gas would definitely -- if a customer comes to us and expresses interest we're very much prepared to work with that customer to increase the number of nomination windows or to look for other ways to integrate with FTSN at Parkway and Kirkwall.  

MR. MORAN:  For the generator to get access to the 96 nomination windows on an intraday firm basis, what is your answer?


MS. PASSMORE:  Customer -- have a customer come and meet with us and we will certainly evolve, to work with him in order to --


MR. MORAN:  So I am a generator and I want to know the answer to that.  So I come and sit down across a table with you, Ms. Passmore, and say, This is what I want.  What is your response going to be?


MS. PASSMORE:  Then we start to work together and figure out how to do it.  We figure out what the changes are, the impacts on the T1 service.  We come back to the Board and describe if there are changes to the rate, to the service description, to the contracts, and to the rate schedule.  That's how we would do it.  

MR. MORAN:  So you would wait until a customer comes to talk to you.  There is no advanced plan for making sure this can happen?  

MS. PASSMORE:  We have already started to discuss it within Union at this point in time, but we have had no customer come to us to request for it yet.  

At this point in time, we are working at actually implementing the services that were approved in NGEIR, but we certainly will never stop evolving our services and the T1 service will continue to evolve.  

MR. MORAN:  All right.  Let's move, then, to scenario B, where the service will be delivered to Kirkwall.  

I take it if I wanted to find out the answer I would have to wait until I had a plant and then I would have to come and meet with you to discuss how to make it work.  Right?  

MS. PASSMORE:  I think my reply would be the same.  We are preparing to evolve to T1 and as customers come to us with expressions of interest we will certainly work with them to make sure the services are in place.  

MR. MORAN:  Skipping over C for the moment and going to D at Dawn, with various intraday services that might be available there, your answer would still be the same there; right?  

MS. PASSMORE:  We have already offered F24T actually to a customer for intraday services from TCPL Vector and they have turned down, they chose not to do that service.  But we have already done that, so we're very much prepared to do that.  

MR. MORAN:  So help me understand that.  You were able to say to the customer, If you want to get access to the 96 nomination windows on an intraday firm basis, we can accommodate that?


MS. PASSMORE:  This was a customer that came to us with Vector service on Vector.  We were prepared to offer him F24T, which is our 13 nomination window service that Union has.  After we did offer him a firm Dawn-to-Dawn Vector service, the customer did elect not to choose that service but we certainly worked with the customer, determined what our assets were capable of doing, determined what the impacts on the service would be.  We came to the Board.  We asked permission.  We got a Dawn-to-Dawn Vector firm transport service.  That is the same steps we would go through with any other service. 

MR. MORAN:  That was an intraday balancing service you were looking at for Vector?


MS. PASSMORE:  For 13 nomination windows in order to access the services. 

MR. MORAN:  Was it a balancing service that was being accessed on Vector or proposed to be accessed?  

MS. PASSMORE:  That is what the 13 nomination windows would allow the customers to do, is ratchet the gas supply up and down, and is what they're doing.  That is how they're balancing intraday.  

MR. MORAN:  Then going back to scenario C, where Enbridge Gas Distribution comes up with intraday balancing services.  How would you go about accommodating that that for the customer?  

MS. PASSMORE:  I think we would be prepared to accommodate.  I can't quite contemplate what they would be offering at this point in time, Mr. Moran.  We would certainly be prepared to discuss with them, whether it would be a F24S, 13 nomination windows on a storage service, whether they would need transport, so therefore whether we would have to contemplate changes in the T1 transport portion.  I would need to understand what the services were, but we would certainly be prepared to work with customers.  

MR. MORAN:  All right.  Let's -- let me turn over to the other side of the exhibit which is example 2.  This is a generator also in the Union franchise, this time served by a lateral, Union lateral directly off the TCPL system, as shown in the diagram.  

If I can arrange as the generator for the short notice firm all day services with TransCanada in scenario A, will you accommodate that in my T1 service?  

MS. PASSMORE:  I believe we would be proposed, Mr. Moran -- I would be repeating myself.  I believe we would be proposed to meet with the customer to figure out how to provide the service they need.


MR. MORAN:  Rather than go through each and every one of these scenarios, I take it the answer would be exactly the same for each of these scenarios?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, yes.  

MR. MORAN:  Let me ask you this then.  If we go to the Enbridge system and look at Sithe Goreway, which is similar to this situation, there is an Enbridge-owned lateral off the TransCanada pipeline system.  Enbridge has already said upfront that they will accommodate TransCanada Pipelines' 96 nomination windows.  They have said that upfront.  The generator knows that.

What's stopping Union from making the same commitment?

MS. PASSMORE:  I don't know at this point in time, Mr. Moran.

MR. MORAN:  You don't know?

MS. PASSMORE:  No, I don't know.

MR. MORAN:  Okay, fair enough.

Now, Ms. Passmore, you understand that most of the new generation, gas-fired generation, that is coming to Ontario is the result of various RFP processes, first carried out by the government and subsequently by the OPA; right?

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes.

MR. MORAN:  So under your scenario, before you are prepared to talk to the customer, they have to win the RFP, and then sit down and you talk to you about it; correct?

MS. PASSMORE:  I don't think that is correct.  We have customers actually calling our power group quite a bit already asking for how services would work, indicating where they believe they would be on the system.  So they certainly are not waiting to win the RFP.

MR. MORAN:  So to compare, then, if a generator is going to be located in the Enbridge territory, they already know that Enbridge will accommodate the 96 nomination windows, but they don't know that on the Union side; correct?

MS. PASSMORE:  We're talking about -- I'm understanding Sithe, we're talking about a real customer that has approached Enbridge, and Union would be prepared to serve any customer that comes on the system.

MR. MORAN:  So what I hear now is that that the 96 nomination windows will being accommodated?

MS. PASSMORE:  We have to figure out the impact of it based on where a customer is.

MR. MORAN:  We saw Enbridge go through that process and declare it in the NGEIR process that they can do that and will do that.

MS. PASSMORE:  Union has not declared that yet.  We have a service that offers 13 nomination windows and we have a downstream balancing service that can accommodate the 96 nomination windows at Parkway.

MR. KAISER:  Can I ask you, why does it matter where the customer is located?  You said -- I inferred you could accommodate some and not others, depending on where the customer is located.

MS. PASSMORE:  No.  I think we just need to look at where the costs are, where the assets are, whether we have them in place.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, panel.  Mr. Chair, those are all of my questions.

MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Moran, your panel will be up at some point in this proceeding, I know, but I would like to ask you one question right now as we start on your generators, and this is the obligated versus non-obligated supply.  I want to just get straight at this early stage of this week that these generators that you have said will be coming off contracts over the next several years and into the market, do you foresee those will be generators that will want to operate with obligated supply?

MR. MORAN:  Can we take that question under advisement?

MR. RUPERT:  Sure,  Okay, thank you.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  We will take the break at this point and come back in 15 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 2:45 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:05 p.m. 

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Thompson.  

MS. CAMPBELL:  Secondly, just before you entered the room, I was canvassing all of the parties about their availability on Wednesday morning and everybody is prepared to make themselves available, if the panel will do so.  

MR. KAIER:  All right.  Let's proceed on that basis.  

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Ryder is going to precede me, Mr. Chair, if that is acceptable.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Mr. Ryder.  

MR. RYDER:  Thank you, sir.

Cross-examination by Mr. Ryder:

MR. RYDER:  Witness panel, my name is Ryder and I act for the City of Kitchener and can we agree at the outset that Kitchener is a public utility?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes.  

MR. RYDER:  It's not an end user?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Well, it has two meters of which the gas goes through.  So that is the consumption point, according to Union Gas.  

MR. RYDER:  Yes.  But the ultimate determinator of the demand of Kitchener is that of its customers.


MS. PASSMORE:  Hm-hmm, yes.  

MR. RYDER:  All right?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes.


MR. RYDER:  Thank you.  And the customer mix is a combination of -- within Kitchener is a combination of residential, commercial and industrial?  

MS. PASSMORE:  That's my understanding.  

MR. RYDER:  And Kitchener, after -- on and after 
April 1 of next year, will receive a space allocation under the aggregate excess method.  Is that so?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes.  

MR. RYDER:  And so Kitchener requires storage for the purposes of seasonal load balancing?


MS. PASSMORE:  That is my understanding, yes.  

MR. RYDER:  All right.  And it has a contract called a T3 contract.  

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes.  

MR. RYDER:  With Union Gas?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, it does.  

MR. RYDER:  The contractual parameters of any T-service contract set out the specific requirements of the service that Union provides to the specific contracting customer?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  That's correct.  

MR. RYDER:  One of the parameters is contract demand?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes.  

MR. RYDER:  Or CD?  And that, I understand, is the maximum amount of gas that Union is obligated to deliver to the customer on any given day.


MS. PASSMORE:  That is correct.  

MR. RYDER:  Another parameter is daily contract quantity or DCQ, which means the daily amount of gas which the customer has obligated itself to deliver to Union's system.  

MS. PASSMORE:  That is correct.  

MR. RYDER:  And storage space is another parameter?  

MS. PASSMORE:  That is correct.  

MR. RYDER:  Now with respect to deliverability, is that properly defined as the maximum amount of gas which Union is required to deliver on a single day to its T customer, from storage?  

MS. PASSMORE:  That is not how I would define "deliverability."  

The deliverability has different definitions.  And as we went through the examples earlier, deliverability is the -- it's not -- well, okay.


You've got the CD, which is the amount of gas that Union is required to deliver, the contract demand, okay.  

Deliverability, then, would be both the obligated DCQ, any withdrawals from storage, and any incremental supply or other transactional services that a customer might require in order to meet that demand.


MR. RYDER:  All right.  Well, let me take you to page 149 of the technical conference.  Can you turn up that page, please.


Perhaps, let me go on.  

In so far as deliverability from storage is used for load balancing, it is used to make up the difference between the DCQ which the customer provides you and the CD, or the customer demand.


MS. PASSMORE:  And that is if the customer determines it wants to contract fully for withdrawal capability in order to make up that difference.  The customer does have the option to bring in incremental supply over and above the obligated DCQ in order to meet that difference.  

MR. RYDER:  But in order for Union to meet its obligated CD under the Kitchener contract, you must deliver the difference between the CD and the DCQ.  

MS. PASSMORE:  We would need to deliver the difference between the CD and all of the gas that was brought on to the system on the customer's behalf that day.  

The customer can bring incremental gas over above the obligated DCQ.  

MR. RYDER:  But your obligation is to deliver up to the level of CD.  

MS. PASSMORE:  That is correct.  

MR. RYDER:  So your obligation, in terms of withdrawals from storage, you are obligated to provide us with the difference between our DCQ and our CD. 

MS. PASSMORE:  I am obligated to provide you with the difference between the obligated DCQ and the incremental supply that the customer would bring on, plus the withdrawals from storage.  

MR. RYDER:  Well, I take it that the -- as a general observations respecting parameters generally under the T contracts, the level of each parameter varies from customer to customer?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Customers can determine the level of -- that is what the T1 and T3 contracts are:  Is the customers individually elect the services that they want to use to manage their facilities or their public utilities.  

MR. RYDER:  So the level of each parameter differs from customer to customer?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, it does.  

MR. RYDER:  Thank you.  And the level of the parameters CD and DCQ are negotiated and agreed to between Union and the customer?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, they are.


MR. RYDER:  Now, going back to the point we were dealing with a minute ago.  The maximum delivery from storage which you are obliged to make to Kitchener or any T1 customer is the difference between the contractual CD and the contractual DCQ.


MS. PASSMORE:  I would continue to disagree with that definition, simply because a customer can always bring addition -- it can choose to bring incremental supply in over and above their obligated DCQ on days that they forecast their consumption to require it.  

MR. RYDER:  Yes, I know that but I am talking about your obligation.  Not our options.  

Your obligation is to deliver the difference over and above our DCQ up to our CD.  

MS. PASSMORE:  If you chose not to bring in incremental supply, that is correct.  

MR. RYDER:  That is your obligation?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Our obligation is to meet your contract demand through withdrawals and gas supply arriving on the system.  

MR. RYDER:  So the maximum deliverability that you provide Kitchener is the difference between CD and DCQ?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  The maximum deliverability that we provide Kitchener is the difference between what you actually consume on any day versus what you are delivering through the DCQ.  That difference is what we deliver to Kitchener.  

To the extent that difference exceeds what you have contracted for for deliverability, and you haven't delivered any other incremental supplies and made no other arrangements, then that would go as unauthorized or authorized overrun, depending on whether it was requested or not.

MR. RYDER:  No, but if we don't consume anything more than our CD, then you're obliged to make up the difference, if we don't choose to go elsewhere?

MR. MacEACHERON:  The default is it would be a withdrawal from storage.  If you haven't made any other incremental arrangements and you have delivered your DCQ, default would be withdrawal from storage.

MR. RYDER:  Now, look at Exhibits A4.2 and A4.3.  We will start with A4.3.

MR. MacEACHERON:  A4...

MR. RYDER:  Three.

MR. MacEACHERON:  Three?

MR. RYDER:  And this interrogatory response has two columns; do you see that?  One is the deliverability percentage based on the existing allocated storage space, and the second column is the deliverability percentage based on the aggregate excess space; right?

Now, I take it that the deliverability percentage 
is -- for T3, is calculated by the formula CD minus DCQ, divided by the total space; is that right?

MR. QUIGLEY:  In the context of this response, which is based on the cost-allocation methodology, that is correct.  It's design day deliveries minus design day supplies equals withdrawal from storage.  That, divided by contracted space, would give you the percentage.

MR. RYDER:  Right.  So the deliverability percentage, when we use that term, means the maximum amount of deliverability up to the CD?

MR. QUIGLEY:  From the cost allocation perspective, yes.  These numbers are taken from Union's cost allocation.

MR. RYDER:  And then for the aggregate excess space for the T3 class, the aggregate excess space is smaller than the existing space; hence, the deliverability percentage is somewhat larger?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. RYDER:  And am I right that the deliverability percentage will be greater for heat sensitive customers than for non-heat sensitive customers?

MR. QUIGLEY:  It will tend to, as those customers tend to have a lower load factor.

MR. RYDER:  Yes.  So the lower the load factor, the greater the deliverability percentage?

MR. QUIGLEY:  In general.

MR. RYDER:  Yes.  If we can look at A4.2, this interrogatory response shows the historical deliverability percentages for the in-franchise customers; is that right?

MR. QUIGLEY:  This shows the -- these numbers are taken from the cost allocation study that's done within each rate case.

So what it shows is the average deliverability for each rate case used to allocate costs to customers within that rate class.

MR. RYDER:  The seasonal load balancing customers in Exhibit A4.2, which are they?  M4 would be one; 9.2 would be one.

MR. QUIGLEY:  M2, yes.

MR. RYDER:  M9? 

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. RYDER:  And T3?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. RYDER:  Now, from this document, are we not being told that the percentage varies from rate class to rate class?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes, based on -- at the time the cost allocation study is done, the customers that were -- sorry, the customers that are in that rate class at the time of the cost allocation.

MR. RYDER:  And they even vary over time within the same class.

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct, for the same reason:  It depends on what customers are in what rate class over time.

MR. RYDER:  Now, can I ask you to turn to Kitchener's prefiled evidence, to Appendix C, please?

Now, does this accurately set out the parameters under the existing T3 contract?

MR. MacEACHERON:  I can't say at this point in time.  We would need to check that.

MR. RYDER:  Would you do so?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Certainly.

MR. RYDER:  Can we have an undertaking for that?

MR. SCHUCH:  Yes.  Mr. Chair, that will be undertaking HDU1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. HDU1.2:  TO CONFIRM THAT APPENDIX C IN KITCHENER'S PREFILED EVIDENCE ACCURATELY STATES PARAMETERS UNDER EXISTING T3 CONTRACT.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. RYDER:  So can we accept these numbers for the purposes of this discussion, subject to your undertaking?

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes.

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.

MR. RYDER:  Thank you.

So the CD, contract demand, is 96,539 gigaJoules, all right?

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes.

MR. RYDER:  And the DCQ is 32,268 gigaJoules, all right?

MR. MacEACHERON:  We have a different number here.

MR. RYDER:  Sorry, 33,966 gigaJoules.

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RYDER:  And if we subtract one from the other and divide it by the space, will we not get 1.87 as a deliverability percentage?

MS. PASSMORE:  I will say that, subject to check.

MR. RYDER:  Thank you.

Now, can I get you to turn to Exhibit A3.11, which was originally filed as Exhibit JTA.31.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Ryder, is this the answer to the interrogatory from London Property Management?

MR. RYDER:  I think there is an answer to London Property Management, and there is also an undertaking -- I am looking undertaking to us.  But it shows the deliverability above 1.2 percent.

MS. CHAPLIN:  That's the attachment to the undertaking answer.  Thank you.

MR. RYDER:  Do you have that, panel?

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, we have it.

MR. RYDER:  Thank you.  Now, so am I right in saying that for the T3 customer, 22,489 gigaJoules, which are currently at cost-based rates, will now be charged at market?

MS. PASSMORE:  That is the proposal.

MR. RYDER:  So that would be about one-third of the total of the current deliverability level?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Could you repeat the question, please?  

MR. RYDER:  The amount of cost-based deliverability is about one-third of the total deliverability Kitchener will require for seasonal load balancing.  One-third is, sorry, market-based price of the total which we require for seasonal load balancing.  

MS. PASSMORE:  So, what we're -- I'm just going to try to rephrase this.  Is that if you take the CD minus the DCQ, okay, that results...  22,489 gJs is what we're indicating is the amount that would be above 1.2 percent -- I'm getting backed up here.  I'm not able to rephrase this at this point.  Could you ask me the question again, with numbers, please.  

MR. RYDER:  Let's start over. 

MS. PASSMORE:  Okay, let's start over.  Thank you very much.  

MR. RYDER:  If we go through the formula CD minus DCQ, we get 62,931 gJs of deliverability.  And that is also shown on appendix C of Mr. Gruenbauer's evidence.  

MS. PASSMORE:  Oh, okay, okay.  Thank you.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Ms. Passmore, I think you said you got 62,573?


MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, I did.  

MS. CHAPLIN:  So did I.  That's a bit different than the 62,931; right?  

MR. RYDER:  We won’t concern ourselves with that.  So about one-third of the deliverability we need for seasonal load balancing will be paid for at market prices?  

MS. PASSMORE:  If you chose to use -- if you chose to meet that balancing, through withdrawals from storage.  That is the proposal.  It could also be met through incremental supply arriving on the system on the days that you need it.  

MR. RYDER:  But if we used incremental supply, we wouldn't be using our storage allocation for seasonal load balancing.  

MS. PASSMORE:  You're using your space, and the deliverability proposal is the 1.2 percent at cost. 

MR. RYDER:  Yes.  But we wouldn't be using all of our space.  

MS. PASSMORE:  That's not intuitive to me at this time. 

MR. RYDER:  We wouldn't be using our space to the extent we're using it now for seasonal load balancing.  Now we get 62,000-odd gigaJoules from space through seasonal load balancing.  You're proposing that we would get only 40-odd-thousand gigaJoules from our space for seasonal load balancing.  Isn't that right?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  That reflects our standard cost-based deliverability.  What we're proposing is our standard cost-based deliverability as 1.2 percent.  Then we're not limiting customers to the amount of deliverability that they would like to select above that.  

If that is what you would prefer to do, to use your -- to access your space as you have described, then you can contract for that level of deliverability above that 1.2 percent.  But there are other means of meeting your end use requirements.  

MR. RYDER:  Yes.  And we will come to these other means in a minute.  But for the -- in order for us to fully use our space, we need more than 40-odd thousand of deliverability.  

MS. PASSMORE:  I am having difficulty putting those concepts together, that you are using -- you are certainly able to use whatever level of deliverability you contract for.  Deliverability and space are two different components.  

So whatever level of deliverability you are prepared to contract for, you would have full access to.  

MR. RYDER:  Now we are getting over 60,000 of gigaJoules of deliverability. 

MS. PASSMORE:  You're getting a higher level of deliverability from the same space, sir.  

MR. RYDER:  Well -- 

MS. PASSMORE:  The proposal here is that 1.2 percent would be at cost and the other 22,489, you certainly are prepared to contract for it.  It would just be at a market price.  

MR. RYDER:  Do you agree that we need 62,573-odd gigaJoules of deliverability to meet our load balancing requirements?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  I don't agree with that.  That's, to meet your CD.  You have to take a look at how you want to optimize your contract with Union.  

If your average, your peak day over the last year, for Instance, may not be close to that CD level.  Therefore you may not choose to over-contract deliverability just to meet the contract demand level that you are not going to reach.  

So you might choose to contract for something less than that.  That's your option.


MR. RYDER:  To meet our load balancing requirements as we have in the past, do we not need 62-odd thousand gigaJoules of deliverability?


MR. MacEACHERON:  I am not familiar with whether or not you have used the full deliverability that you have contracted for today.  

MR. RYDER:  To provide the security of supply of a 44 degree day, do we not need our CD of 96,539?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, you need the CD at that level, that's correct.  

MR. RYDER:  Thank you.  

And we have agreed to the CD at that level, Union and Kitchener?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, you have. 

MR. RYDER:  We have agreed to the DCQ at 32,268?  

MS. PASSMORE:  You have agreed to that, but we could do other things with that DCQ.  

MR. RYDER:  Well, in order...  I take it in order to provide the deliverability level up to the CD, we now have to pay about one-third of our deliverability at market.  

MS. PASSMORE:  The proposal would suggest, if we wanted to meet that through withdrawals.  

MR. RYDER:  Now, all of your current deliverability at the 1.9 percent comes from Union's space allocated under the contract?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Comes from Union's space?  

MR. RYDER:  In other words, the deliverability that you currently provide us comes from storage that is being allocated to Kitchener?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes.  

MR. QUIGLEY:  The deliverability that you have contracted for, yes, comes from Union's space.  

MR. RYDER:  Yes.  Similarly, when the deliverability level is set at the aggregate excess level, on April of 2008, your requirement currently would come from volumes, delivery from the aggregate excess storage.  

MR. QUIGLEY:  If you are using Union's storage, if you have contracted for storage from Union and deliverability, that deliverability is coming from Union's storage.  

MR. RYDER:  Yes.  And Union is the only service provider of deliverability that can inject and withdraw from the space that has been allocated to Kitchener, that Union's space has been allocated to Kitchener.  

MR. MacEACHERON:  We are the only service provider that can inject or withdraw gas from our own space, that's correct.  But there are other service providers that can provide you with that type of service and we expect there will be more in the future that will provide that type of service.  

MR. RYDER:  Well, if we went to a different service provider than Union, to obtain the market price to replace the 22,489 gigaJoules above 1.2 percent, then those gigaJoules wouldn't be coming from the storage space that's been allocated by Union under the first NGEIR decision.

It would come from elsewhere.

MS. PASSMORE:  But what you would be purchasing from them is deliverability.  You're contracting for the space from us, and then if you elected to choose only 1.2 percent of the deliverability from Union Gas, as it was made, I believe marketers were quite clear during the NGEIR proceeding that they were interested in offering these services, and that came out of the development of the ^F24-S, the high deliverability storage service.  There are definitely market participants that are interested from offering these type of services at Dawn.

MR. RYDER:  I don't think we're on the same page here.

If you go back to Exhibit A3.11, we see that 22,000 gigaJoules is to be charged at market, if we use your service.

MS. PASSMORE:  That's correct.

MR. RYDER:  Right.  But if we used another provider, not Union, to replace that 22,000 of gigaJoules, we wouldn't be taking that gas from our space, would we?

MS. PASSMORE:  No, that is correct.

MR. RYDER:  No.

So we wouldn't be using the full amount of the space that has been allocated to us under the first NGEIR decision?

MS. PASSMORE:  I think we've got to delink those components, Mr. Ryder.  You're contracting for space and you are contracting for deliverability.  You will have full access to both of those components of the service.

MR. RYDER:  But on a cold day, we won't be taking deliverability from -- all of our necessary deliverability from Union's space allocated to us.  We would be taking it from elsewhere.

MS. PASSMORE:  That is because you have made the decision to not contract for that incremental 0.7 percent of deliverability from Union.

MR. RYDER:  Well, can we agree, then, that whether we buy this one-third of our necessary deliverability from you at market or we buy it from an alternative supplier, we still need the full 96,000-odd gigaJoules to meet our load balancing requirements?

MS. PASSMORE:  I would respectfully suggest that you would need the amount of your CD of gas supply to be arriving on the system on a peak day in some form.  Whether it is a withdrawal, whether it's incremental supply, I continue to say the same thing.

MR. RYDER:  Well, you don't suggest, do you, that 1.2 percent is adequate to meet the load balancing requirements of Kitchener?  We still need more than 1.2 percent to meet our load balancing parameters.

MS. PASSMORE:  What I'm suggesting is 1.2 percent is the standard service.

MR. RYDER:  I know that.  That is not my question.

In order to meet our load balancing requirements, you don't suggest that 1.2 percent will do it?

MS. PASSMORE:  And what we are suggesting is the load balancing requirements will be met by competitive services.  So, therefore, anything over the 1.2 --

MR. RYDER:  Your 1.2 percent won't do it.  We have to go elsewhere.

MS. PASSMORE:  Or you go to Union Gas and use the other services over 1.2 percent.

MR. RYDER:  So we agree, I take it from that answer, that 1.2 percent won't be enough?

MS. PASSMORE:  That is correct.

MR. RYDER:  Isn't that true for all of the seasonal load balancing customers?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Well, you can't say for all customers.  Each customer will be unique in what their requirements are and whether they contract further CD, whether or not -- their actual load might not approach that CD on an average winter day.  They may be somewhat significantly less than that, in which case the 1.2 percent might just fit fine.

MR. RYDER:  You are being disingenuous.  Look at Exhibit A4.3, please.

It seems that all of the rate classes have a deliverability above 1.2 percent currently.

MR. QUIGLEY:  All of the rate classes are being allocated at to cost as a deliverability percentage.


MR. RYDER:  T1 and T3 are both over 1.2 percent.  Right?  All of the in-franchise are above 1.2 percent.


MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes.  That is based on what the contracted deliverability has been for those customers that were grandfathered under the --

MR. RYDER:  Look at A4.2.  Historically, they have all been above 1.2 percent.

MR. QUIGLEY:  I think if you go back to EBR-O499, you will see that there were customers under 1.2 percent and seven specifically where -- and that's what we have seen since that rate case, that customers that have migrated out of those rate classes have -- the high load factor customers that have unbundled is what is causing those deliverability percentages to increase.

MR. RYDER:  As a general rule, can it be said from these two exhibits, A4.2 and A4.3, that the in-franchise deliverability requirement exceeds 1.2 percent?

MR. QUIGLEY:  For cost allocation purposes, yes, but even for --

MR. RYDER:  And for load balancing purposes?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Even for seasonal M2 customers, if they unbundle and take the U2 service, they take 1.2 percent standard deliverability, they are not required to take a peaking service option.  So they can manage their unbundled service with 1.2 percent standard deliverability and go out into the marketplace and get competitive alternatives.

MR. RYDER:  Yes, I know about these alternatives, but the point that I am trying to deal with is simply that as the system, your customer -- in-franchise customers require for seasonal load balancing a level of deliverability that exceeds 1.2 percent?

MR. QUIGLEY:  These are based on a design, a peak day design day cost-allocation methodology.  I don't think you can make that generalization for seasonal load balancing purposes.

MR. RYDER:  Well, don't you have --

MR. QUIGLEY:  There are many customers that load balance and never meet their --

MR. RYDER:  Don't you have to design your load balancing services for peak days?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Correct.

MR. RYDER:  So, again, let me -- on that basis, don't you need deliverability for your in-franchise that exceeds 1.2 percent?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Based on the customers that are in those rate classes at this time.

MR. RYDER:  And that's your in-franchise group; right?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes.

MR. RYDER:  Thank you.  So what is your average -- I know 1.2 percent is the average deliverability from the pools, but what is the average deliverability of the service to your in-franchise for load-balancing purposes?  

MR. QUIQLEY:  I think on a design day that is a question that we have taken an undertaking on to Mr. Moran, as to what the system-wide deliverability is.

MR. RYDER:  I think you took an undertaking from me from the technical conference, but I haven't got the answer yet.  So I will wait for your answer to Mr. Moran.

Now, dealing with your rationale for the 1 -- for selecting 1.2 percent, one of your factors was that it represents the average rate of deliverability from your base load pools?

MR. QUIGLEY:  That is correct.

MR. RYDER:  All right.  And that's to be distinguished from the level of the service, the deliverability service; right?

What the pools produce is not the level of the deliverability provided in your deliverability service?

MR. QUIGLEY:  What the -- the physical pools underlie the service that we provide.  In a bundled world, we're still -- the 1.2 percent firm deliverability for the standard service and the 10 percent high deliverability for peaking service was the movement to the unbundled world.  We're still -- unbundled world.  We're still in a bundled world.  So we're managing all of those groups in aggregate at this time, but as the market evolves, as the services evolve, the storage pools that would support these standard services would be at 1.2 percent.  

We're not there right now because of things like customers having grandfathered contracts that have been struck at greater than 1.2 percent, but, evolutionary, these base load pools deliver on average 1.2 percent.

MR. RYDER:  So the base load pools deliver 1.2 percent, but the customer receives over 1.2 percent, on average?

MR. QUIGLEY:  And pays for it.

MR. RYDER:  Fine.  And what provides the additional deliverability above the base pressure coming from the pools?  I take it that is some mechanical means that does that?

MR. QUIGLEY:  There are also some high deliverability pools that in a bundled world still are contributing to that.

MR. RYDER:  But it is also compression, is it not?  

MR. QUIGLEY:  That is one tool that can be used.  

MR. RYDER:  And the cost of Union's compression necessary to meet the existing deliverability service to your in-franchise has been paid for by the in-franchise customers?  

MR. QUIGLEY:  It's built into rates, yes. 

MR. RYDER:  I beg your pardon?  

MS. PASSMORE:  It's built into rates.  

MR. RYDER:  Thank you.  So when you fix on the 1.2 percent average pressure coming from the pools, you are forgetting the additional pressure that's provided by compression.  

MS. PASSMORE:  No.  

MR. QUIGLEY:  No.  That includes what is provided by compression.  That's not strictly what floats out of the pool.  

That is the sum of all of the facilities at the Dawn hub.  Including compression, valves, pipelines, gives you an average deliverability out of those pools of 1.2 percent.  

MR. RYDER:  All right.  Well then look at A 4.2 again.  

You see for 2007 all of these deliverability percentages that exceed 1.2 percent.  How did you get there?  

MR. QUIGLEY:  Well, as I mentioned earlier, there are two types of storage pools.  There are the standard service storage pools or the base load pools that deliver 1.2 percent, and then we have some high deliverability pools or standard peaking service pools that deliver 10 percent.  The sum of those, subject to check to Mr. Moran's undertaking, deliver about 1.5 percent system wide on a design day.  

MR. KAISER:  What's the relative importance of the 1.5, the higher deliverability pools?  What percentage of the total volume do they represent?  

MR. QUIGLEY:  They represent currently about nine percent of the total pools, is the high deliverability pools of working inventory at Union.  

MR. KAISER:  Okay.  

MR. RYDER:  Well, surely to get to these high percentages in the second column, the third column of Exhibit A4.2, you, in addition to your high deliverability pools, you also had compression in there.  

MR. QUIGLEY:  That's all factored into -- if you take on a design day, all of the pools or all of the customers, their design day -- deliverability from storage, divided by total storage space, you're going to get a number approximating 1.5 percent.  So that's using the standard -- that's using the base load pools and the standard peaking service pools, including compression.  

MR. RYDER:  So when you focussed and emphasized the pressure coming from your base load pools, you forgot about the compression and you forgot about the high deliverability pools.  

MR. QUIGLEY:  We didn't forget about it.  But as we stated in our unbundling proposal that those pools tended as we move to an unbundled world where customers are moving from the bundled rate class, those pools were to be dedicated to the M2 customer group, because the M2, the residential home, the very peak load that is -- that we manage.  

So we agree we're not in a total unbundled environment yet.  But the purpose of setting that up was as we move to an unbundled environment as customers migrated from the M2 rate class, they would take a component of the standard deliverability and have the option to take a component of the peak deliverability.  

MR. RYDER:  Now, another factor that you relied on is that the 1.2 percent is a consistent standard.  

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.  As we laid out in our evidence.  

MR. RYDER:  Consistent with what?  

MR. AIKEN:  As we said it is consistent with the design of the base load pools.  It is consistent with the other in-franchise services that are offered.  It is consistent with how we market our ex-franchise services.  And it is consistent with when we went out answer looked at what other storage service providers in the area were offering for long-term open-seasons all laid out pages 6 to 13 in our supplemental evidence. 

MR. RYDER:  I take it it is not consistent with the delivery service provided to the bundled customers.  They get more than 1.2 percent.   

MR. QUIGLEY:  As we said, we're still managing in a bundled environment right now. 

MR. RYDER:  Just answer my question.  Is it consistent with what you give the bundled service customers?  

MR. QUIGLEY:  The bundled service customers are getting greater than 1.2 class -- 

MR. RYDER:  So it was not consistent with what you give the bundled customers. 

MS. PASSMORE:  That is true.  Mr. Ryder, I think that was the purpose of originally going to laying out the graph that Mr. MacEacheron described earlier, the levels of service and the levels of responsibility.  You had the bundled service which does incorporate, and at this point in time, it would incorporate using both the standard storage service and the SPS service to meet the peak day requirements.  But that is a customer that costs are being allocated as a rate class.  

Then we move to the semi-unbundled service so that in Kitchener's extent is moving from a M9 to a T3.  At that point in time, a customer elects to go to a semi-unbundled service because it is, in effect, making a financial decision that it can balance rather than using what the rate class average for allocation of assets are.  So in moving to that the customer now has taken on a greater commitment to manage their balancing requirements through gas supply.  They're not required -- they're not relying on a rate class allocation of assets.  So that is what these numbers are reflecting.  

M2 through M10 on Exhibit 4-10 are reflecting purely a financial cost allocation study.  And that is a rate class allocation of costs.  So whether those customers use it or not, whether they want it or not within those rate classes they're going to be charged at those types of rates.  

For T1 and T3 it reflects the actual contractual parameters that the customers have elected, and currently customers can elect in the current world to contract for deliverability in excess of 1.2 percent and they have chosen to do that.  

Now they will have the choice of either contracting for deliverability in excess of 1.2 percent at market for Union or getting it from a third-party supplier.  

MR. RYDER:  All right.  That's a long answer but the difference in responsibilities, to cut to the quick, the difference in responsibilities between the bundled and the semi-unbundled isn't that reflected in costs?  

MS. PASSMORE:  It's reflected in costs and how they elect the components of their service, Mr. Ryder. 

MR. RYDER:  Why is it a justification for changing the service and charging us market?  

MS. PASSMORE:  As each customer -- moving to the semi-unbundled is a step towards moving towards unbundled.  And especially with the flexibility that we have in our proposal now with the access to the firm injection and withdrawal, you are getting a customer more and mother a T1 and T3 are becoming much closer to what U7 and U9 was always envisioned as.  

MR. RYDER:  Tell me why is that a justification for cutting our deliverability service from 1.9 percent or 2 percent down 1.2 percent. 

MS. PASSMORE:  No one is cutting your service, sir. 

MR. RYDER:  You're servicing our service at cost. 

MS. PASSMORE:  Very much so. 

MR. RYDER:  Why is that a justification for cutting our cost-based service? 

MS. PASSMORE:  Your cost-based service now would be defined as the cost-based service that was approved in the unbundling decision, which was an allocation of cost-based space and 1.2 percent deliverability at cost.  

MR. MacEACHERON:  I would add to that, that storage, as has been pointed out, standard with 1.2 percent deliverability and you have options above and beyond that that could help meet your end-use requirements.  

One of those options, for instance, is a seasonal DCQ which I think you have used in the past.  And by adopting a seasonal DCQ, you, therefore, have contracted in essence for deliverability in a way not related to the storage.  

MR. RYDER:  Mr. MacEacheron, are we not dealing with in-franchise storage services?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  We are dealing with storage services to T1 and T3 semi-unbundled customers. 

MR. RYDER:  Are we not in-franchise?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, you are.  

MR. RYDER:  All right.  I thought NGEIR 1 said in-franchise is a regulated service.  

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, it is.  

MR. RYDER:  All right.  But you are encroaching into our regulated service, in terms of you encroached from 1.9 percent down to 1.2 percent into our regulated service. 

MR. MacEACHERON:  We're saying that that is what is -- that is the amount which we are proposing be offered to our customers at cost.  Because it reflects the standard amount of deliverability that we have from our storage pools.  It reflects the consistency with the other services, such as the unbundled service and the recently-approved non-obligated service for large customers and power customers.  

It reflects the standard amount of deliverability provided to ex-franchise customers who buy storage from us, like Enbridge and Gaz Métropolitain, other very large utilities. 

MR. RYDER:  I read your --  

MS. WONG:  Might I just interject for a moment.  

I have let this line of questioning go on for quite a long time.  But if we go back to the issues list, you will see issue number 2 with respect to deliverability was restricted to the question of deliverability for the new evidential alternative methodology.

My understanding of the issues list is that deliverability for aggregate excess was already dealt with in NGEIR, and so to a great extent, a lot of these questions are not really on the issues list and not relevant to the issues list.

If you turn up the issues list -- I am looking specifically at issue 2, which says:  
"For each of the space allocation alternatives or methodologies considered in issue 1, what is the appropriate level of storage deliverability?"

And the only alternative methodology on the table is the 10X DCQ method.

[Board Panel confers]

MR. KAISER:  While Mr. Ryder is considering that, Ms. Passmore, this differential that we have now been talking about for half an hour between 1.9 and 1.2 proposed -- 1.9 actual and 1.2 proposed, is Kitchener unique amongst your in-franchise customers in that regard?

MS. PASSMORE:  No, they're not.

MR. RYDER:  My response, Mr. Chair, members of the Panel, is that in your -- you made a ruling on Issues Day on October 22nd, and when Union, as they do now, asserted that a standard deliverability service at 1.2 percent had been decided in the first NGEIR decision, and at page -- at the top of page 85, you stated:   
"The Board does not accept Union's submission."

Hence, that led to your decision to roll over all of the existing T1 and T3 contracts who were receiving deliverability above 1.2 percent until you determined, in this case, where the level should be.

MS. WONG:  Might I just respond to that, Mr. Chair?

MR. RYDER:  All my point is, that what we do know from NGEIR 1 is that deliverability is a part of the in-franchise storage service, and the in-franchise storage service is a regulated service.  And up until now, it has always been well above 1.2 percent, and now we know that they're trying to carve out or encroach or push forbearance further into the in-franchise area, which we say you ruled against in NGEIR 1.

MR. KAISER:  Ms. Wong.

MS. WONG:  Just on the point as to what you said on Issues Day, I am reading from page 85 of the Issues Day transcript:
"To the extent that the 1.2 deliverability is a standard, it is a standard within the context of the aggregate excess methodology."

Then you go on to allude to the evidence supporting that.

And that statement that it's a standard within the context of aggregate excess, I submit, Mr. Chair, was picked up in issue 2, which clearly restricts the issue to the alternate methodologies.

MR. KAISER:  When you say it restricts the issue to the alternate methodology, that doesn't mean the alternate methodology is the right one.

MS. WONG:  Well, to whatever the alternate methodologies are in issue.  But aggregate excess is not an alternative methodology.

MR. RUPERT:  Ms. Wong, as I read the issues list, the issues that emerged from the Issues Day, I read issue 1 to be restricted solely to space; right?

MS. WONG:  Yes.

MR. RUPERT:  So I want to understand.  Are you interpreting issue 1 to say that aggregate excess method, including the question of deliverability, is not an issue?

MS. WONG:  I am interpreting issue 2, in issue 1 -- issue 1 talks about coming up with alternatives to the aggregate excess methodology, and then in issue 2 you say:   
"For those alternatives to the aggregate excess methodology, what is the appropriate level of deliverability?"

And the alternatives that have been proposed are the 10X DCQ method and, to some extent, that is the IGUA proposal of 38X -- 38 times -- DCQ.

MR. RUPERT:  You would say that even though it appears that virtually none of the T1 or T3 customers currently have 1.2 percent deliverability in their contracts under the aggregate excess method, that that issue was nonetheless resolved in favour of 1.2 percent?

MS. WONG:  That's Union's position with respect to the high deliverability, that's correct, that high deliverability has been resolved and it is 1.2, anything above 1.2 for aggregate excess.

MR. KAISER:  I think, Ms. Wong, we're inclined to agree with Mr. Ryder and we will let him continue his questions.

MR. RYDER:  Thank you.

Passing on, one of the other things I notice about the 1.2 percent proposal is that it doesn't seem to be consistent with historical practice.  Would you agree with that?

MS. PASSMORE:  Excuse me, it is not consistent with what?

MR. RYDER:  Historical practice for the deliverability service.

MR. MacEACHERON:  We have contracted with our T1 and T3 customers at levels of deliverability above 1.2 percent.  We haven't limited them to 1.2 percent.  We have contracted at levels above that.

MR. RYDER:  Yes.  And your average or your -- according to Exhibit A4.2, all of the rate classes seem to be getting well above 1.2 percent, except for M5; right?

MR. MacEACHERON:  That, again, is a cost allocation study based on design day and --

MR. RYDER:  Would that not reflect -- when you speak of 1.2 percent, isn't that the same -- isn't your 1.2 percent calculated in the same way as the --

MR. MacEACHERON:  The cost study reflects -- I'm sorry, the cost study reflects how costs will be allocated to the various rate classes, but it does not reflect and should not be confused with the actual physical activity on any day, which a semi-unbundled or unbundled customer can do with their deliverability, once contracted for.  

The bundled customers we manage as a pool of customers and we don't -- they can't individually transact as we're proposing a T1 customer or certainly an unbundled customer can do today.

They have a discrete access to that deliverability service.

MR. RYDER:  Can you look at A4.2 and A4.3, please?  Are you saying that these deliverability percentages should be calculated differently?

MR. MacEACHERON:  I'm just saying that the physical molecule movement on any day may not be what you see here.  This is how costs are allocated for design day and how the rate structures -- cost structure is put together and what components of that is deliverability, but because they're managed as a bundled group of customers, as a pool of customers, they don't have discrete abilities to withdraw and inject into storage like a T1 or T3 or an unbundled customer can do.

MR. RYDER:  Well, currently, and over the past number of years, Kitchener and the T1 customers have had the contractual right to obtain deliverability well and above 1.2 percent at cost.

MR. MacEACHERON:  We have contracted with Kitchener for deliverability above 1.2 percent, that's correct.

MR. RYDER:  Thanks.  So your fixation -- your fixing of deliverability at cost at 1.2 percent is not in accord with your past practice?

MR. MacEACHERON:  It's -- as I have mentioned and as we mentioned, it is in accordance with what our standard deliverability is for our standard pools.

MR. RYDER:  Is it in accordance with what you have done in the past with respect to the deliverability service?

MR. MacEACHERON:  We have not limited our customers to the 1.2 percent.  We have allowed them to select the level of deliverability that they so require or would like to contract for.

MR. RYDER:  And historically it hasn't been possible to have the same level of deliverability for load balancing for each class or for each customer.  If you focus on the purpose of deliverability to provide load balancing, you couldn't fix it at any particular percentage level.  

MR. MacEACHERON:  When you talk about unbundling your customers -- 

MR. RYDER:  I'm not talking about unbundling.  I'm talking about the deliverability service for load balancing.  

MR. MacEACHERON:  To a semi-unbundled customer such as a T3.  

MR. RYDER:  To all customers.  It can't be at a fixed level because each customer requires a different level for the load balancing.  Isn't that so?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  In a bundled pool -- 

MR. RYDER:  I didn't say a bundled pool.  Don't retreat to avoid my question.  

You can't provide load balancing at the same level, deliverability for load balancing at the same level for everyone.  

MS. PASSMORE:  But for a bundled customer, they don't have the ability to -- they are not bringing in the incremental supply.  They're not managing it.  

When a customer has elected to move from M9 to T3, they have said, I want to choose the ways I will manage my daily balancing.  

So it can include a mixture of withdrawal from storage, gas coming on the system.  

So you are being given the tools.  It's just now the proposal has a standard level -- 

MR. RYDER:  Do you know what my question was?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes.  You're saying you can't have a standard level of deliverability. 

MR. RYDER:  Yes.  But for load balancing purposes.  If you are going to use it for load balancing and you're not going to go out and buy alternatives, if you just got to stay with your allocated space, the deliverability level that you need will vary from customer to customer?  

MS. PASSMORE:  That's correct.  

MR. RYDER:  All right.  

Can I have a minute.  

Looking at the T3 level again.  Kitchener is the only customer in that class?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  That's correct.  

MR. RYDER:  So when you make a calculation for the, based on allocation of costs, isn't that -- won't there always be the same allocation of cost, allocation of assets, it will all be the same for T3.  

MS. PASSMORE:  For T3, it actually reflects the contracted parameters.  

MR. RYDER:  Yes.  That you have agreed to?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, yes.  

MR. RYDER:  All right.  Now, in your appendix to your reply evidence, you draw comparisons between the bundled and semi-unbundled.  

MR. MacEACHERON:  You're referring to the table?  

MR. RYDER:  Yes.  Am I right in saying that the managing of the storage balance that the semi-unbundled customer performs is after the event, but during the day in question, Union does all of the management for the customer.  

MS. PASSMORE:  I would not agree with that.  

MR. RYDER:  But you did in the technical conference.  Do you want me to show you that evidence?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes, please.  

MR. RYDER:  Can I get you to turn to page 170 and 171.  At the bottom of the page, 171, Ms. Passmore, the question was:

"Mr. Gruenbauer:  Under a semi-unbundled service, the injections and withdrawals are, is it fair to say, that they're deemed after the fact because of the nature of the no notice. 
"Ms. Passmore:  Yes, that is correct."


MS. PASSMORE:  Yes.  But I don't believe that is the question you just asked me.  

MR. RYDER:  Well.  It's the management occurs after the fact.  

MS. PASSMORE:  No.  The allocation of the injections and withdrawals occurs after the fact.  

MR. RYDER:  Thank you. 

MS. PASSMORE:  The customer can certainly manage, based on his forecast of his next day's consumption, to nominate incremental supply.  It's simply the allocation of the injection and withdrawal that happens after the fact.  

MR. RYDER:  Can I get you to turn to page 173.  At line 5:
"Mr. Gruenbauer:  If I was to characterize that service, I would say it is semi-unbundled.  It is semi-unbundled with respect to the rates, with respect to the rates are unbundled, but it's not been operationally unbundled to the same extent as the U services.  Can you agree with that? 
"Ms. Passmore:  I think I believe I can, yes."


Now, have you changed your position on that?  

MS. PASSMORE:  No, I don't believe so.  

MR. RYDER:  So we're somewhere in the middle between bundled and unbundled?  

MS. PASSMORE:  That's what semi-unbundled is.  

MR. RYDER:  But for the operation... hold on.  Operationally, we are bundled?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  I don't quite get that point, to be honest.  I don't get that point that you are making.  

You can control your withdrawal and injection activity.  Kitchener and any T1 or T3 customer has the ability to control, in any given day, the amount of gas that they inject into storage and the amount of gas that they withdraw from storage.  Simply by coordinating an incremental supply arrangement, by coordinating a transfer of gas from one party to another, you can, on any given day, control or manage that.  

And at the end of the day, we net all of the transactions that have happened and determine what has been withdrawn or what has been injected.  So you can withdraw 300 units of gas from storage and inject 100.  Net you've only withdrawn 200.  

MR. RYDER:  Yes.  But the fact is that during a cold day, we don't have to nominate, do we, to make sure that our CD is met.  

MS. PASSMORE:  You do not have to nominate consumption, that's correct.  

MR. RYDER:  You do that for us?  You provide the necessary flows from storage to meet our demand. 

MR. MacEACHERON:  Because you have contracted for a level of deliverability that allows that.  

MR. RYDER:  Thank you.  

MS. CHAPLIN:  If I might just interject, if you are done with that point.  

Mr. MacEacheron, would it be fair to say that a customer could operate, if a customer were to operate passively, then the default is that those allocations would be done at the end of the day.  So in a sense a customer could kind of operate like a bundled customer and the default is these allocations or they could choose to operate on a more unbundled basis and be more active, but again the ultimate allocation is at the end of the day, is that -- 

MR. MacEACHERON:  That's correct.  The default would be, would be service from Union, if the customer has not taken a hands-on approach to bring in incremental supply, to shed supply, to do whatever, then the default would always be activity from their storage account.  And that might be, if they haven't contracted for an appropriate level of storage deliverability, it might be in the form of an overrun of that service.  Ultimately it would default to that.  But a customer would typically know, on any day, what's happening.  In the case of Kitchener, for instance, if a cold front like we just experienced is on the way, they might know that with the degree days being forecasted, that their consumption is going to increase and they may want to arrange for incremental supply.  Under our proposal, with the flexibility, you can achieve greater withdrawal from storage simply by nominating an injection in the wintertime.  

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  

MR. RYDER:  But if we operated passively, and we can do that, I take it, Mr. MacEacheron, because it's a no notice, no nomination service.  

We don't need to nominate.  We don't need to give you notice.  And you don't give us notice.  You do it automatically.  

MR. MacEACHERON:  The default is, is we will do the math at the end of the day and withdrawal from storage, if that's what we're talking about here or if you oversupply versus your consumption an injection into storage.  

MR. RYDER:  And we can manage passively?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  That's not the intent of the T1 service.  That is why customers have moved to T1 service from a bundled service, in your case the M9, is because customers wanted to have greater control over their own balancing costs and, therefore, the service -- the semi-unbundled service that the customers elected has those bundled balancing costs removed.

Now the customers' obligation is to very much put hands on the steering wheel and guide this service.

MR. RYDER:  I suggest that the situation is not as you say and that the reason the semi-unbundled don't take the further step to the completely unbundled status is because we want to enjoy passive management.

MR. MacEACHERON:  I have never heard the semi-unbundled service referred to as a passive management service.  I've heard the bundled service refer to that, but not the semi-unbundled.  It is where more sophisticated customers are today is in that service, and they have migrated to that service to save on balancing costs.

MR. RYDER:  They haven't migrated to the unbundled, have they?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  We haven't any industrial or customers like yourselves who have migrated to the unbundled yet, no.  We certainly have a large number of core market customers, marketers, have taken to the unbundled service.

MR. RYDER:  And the semi-unbundled is a no-notice, no-nomination service which allows us not to manage on a daily basis?

MS. PASSMORE:  No.  It is suggesting, Mr. Ryder, that you don't need to nominate your consumption, but you do have control over the amount of deliverability you have elected to contract for.  If you want to meet your consumption other than through deliverability, then you would meet it through incremental supply.

It's not a hands-off service.

MR. MacEACHERON:  A bundled customer who takes their hands-off approach doesn't incur storage penalties the next day as a result of the activity, where if you don't keep your hands on and watch that your parameters haven't been exceeded as a semi-unbundled customer, you will indeed experience overrun charges.

MR. RYDER:  Our hands-on activity comes the next day, not before the --

MR. MacEACHERON:  No, I disagree with that.  You do have the ability to avoid -- to avoid the unauthorized or the authorized charges.  You can ask for authorization, that's one.  That is very simple.  And you can arrange for other -- other deliveries of gas, other solutions.

You have that within your ability.  You just can -- you're not left to just -- you have no other fate but to accept unauthorized overrun or whatever.  You can control it.

MR. RYDER:  Going to the unbundled service is a matter of customer choice?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Absolutely.

MR. RYDER:  You don't want to force us to do that?

MR. MacEACHERON:  We won't force a customer to take any service.  We hope that the customer will select the level of service, bundled, semi-unbundled or unbundled, that best fits their needs and requirements.

MR. RYDER:  And we have a no-notice, no-nomination service.

MR. MacEACHERON:  A semi-unbundled service is a no-notice, no-nomination service, but there is a hands-on component to it, very much.

You can steer to avoid daily penalties.  A bundled customer, one day to the next, doesn't have a storage obligation, whereas a bundled customer and a semi-unbundled customer does.

MR. RYDER:  Because -- and somehow there's some link, you say, between the fact that we have a semi-unbundled service that we must pay market now for our seasonal load balancing for some of it?

MR. MacEACHERON:  What we're saying is our standard level of deliverability and what we're trying to determine here in this proceeding is:  What is that amount?  What is the standard amount?  And what we're proposing as the standard amount is the amount that is standard, that comes with our standard storage pools.

MS. PASSMORE:  It's also important to understand that customers elect to semi-unbundled services because they make a financial decision, and they make that financial decision based on the savings of not having the cost of carry in their distribution rates, but of electing the amount of storage and the amount of deliverability that they want to manage their system.

So you take that deliverability not only having a standard level of deliverability and now say, Okay, take that one step further and we will use either market price deliverability or other third party services that are very available at Dawn to meet those needs.

So the customers have made a financial decision to move from M9 or M7 to the service that they're on.

MR. RYDER:  Is it also fair to say the same thing, Ms. Passmore, that the T customers has made the decision to move to a semi-unbundled service on the basis that the deliverability component would be at cost-based rates?

MS. PASSMORE:  That was their understanding at the time, that's correct.

MR. RYDER:  Yes.  And you want to change that?

MS. PASSMORE:  This is evolving and this is part of our proposal now.

MR. RYDER:  Thank you, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Ryder.  Mr. Thompson.
Cross-examination by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Panel, what you will need for my examination, in addition to your own material, is a copy of the IGUA evidence.

Do you happen to have bound copies of that available?

The exhibit number is --

MR. SCHUCH:  -- L-1, Mr. Chair.

MR. THOMPSON:  L-1.  Thank you.

I have a couple of extra, but not... 

MS. CHAPLIN:  I have it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Union panel have it?  Do you need extras?

MS. PASSMORE:  We have the main body of the evidence and we have all of the attachments in this one binder, so...

MS. WONG:  If you have extras, Mr. Thompson, it might be helpful.

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm surprised you don't have this in your washroom at home.

MS. WONG:  Are the doors locked?

MR. MacEACHERON:  You're predicting the future.

[Laughter]

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, my client's concern, as you know, is with respect to the DCQ obligated T1 customers.  So we are not and don't have any questions about the non-obligated, the new services that Mr. Moran was talking to you about in the latter part of his examination.

I would like to begin my examination by following up on something Ms. Chaplin was asking you about, which was the comparability of what Union is proposing to the Board-approved status quo.

To do that, I want to get the history of the T1 service clear as a matter of record.  We discussed this in the IGUA material.  It starts at around paragraph 25.

Just to put this in context, during the course of the technical conference, I asked you to produce excerpts from the cases back in the '80s when the T1 service was introduced, and a large volume of material was produced to me.  Can you confirm that for the record?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Are you folks familiar with that material, because we have appended parts of it to our material?

MR. MacEACHERON:  There's a lot of material there, but we will do our best.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let's start, then, if we might with, first of all, in this description of the DCQ obligated T1 service, you describe it as semi-unbundled.

Would you agree with me that it could equally be described as semi-bundled?

MR. MacEACHERON:  I think it's closer to the unbundled than it is to the bundled, personally.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, there are obviously bundled features of it, because you have been discussing those with Mr. Ryder for some time.  

The analogy of the bundled service is important in understanding the history.  Would you agree?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  I don't know if I would agree with that.  I really do see the semi-unbundled service as being a service that's getting closer and closer to the unbundled service.  

As we evolve and as our services evolve and with the proposal today that we're making in this proceeding, the flexibility and those sort of things, I think we're getting closer to that one than certainly to the bundled.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Have you read the excerpts from the history that are in the IGUA evidence?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Yet?  All right.  Let's read them together a bit.  Maybe this will help you -- 

MR. MacEACHERON:  Okay.  

MR. THOMPSON:  -- come more into the concepts that we believe apply.  

We say in paragraph 27, we talk about the underlying concept that DCQ obligated T1 service is intended to provide customers with space and deliverability equivalent to what they would enjoy as a bundled service customer.  We say that dates back to 1986 and 1987.  

Then in paragraph 28, we have an excerpt from the evidence that was filed following -- well, part of the contract carriage proceeding with respect to Union's proposal in that case.  

Do you see that?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  This is a quote from Union's evidence and you can find it at tab 11, I believe, if you want to check it.  This is from the storage section of the company's evidence in the interim contract carriage proceeding.  

This is what Union had to say:

"For the interim period, Union's T-service bundles transmission, distribution and storage service under one rate.  Union suggests that this type of contract carriage service is the easiest to implement in the interim, as the service is analogous to that of a sales customer."


Just stopping there.  That's an analogy to a bundled service.  Right?  Would you agree?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  I think that is an analogy to that.  

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well a sales customer is a bundled services customer?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Hm-hmm, yes.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Then it goes on: 
"The advantage to a customer of a combined package is its ability to purchase at 100 percent load factor from TransCanada, thus lowering its unit costs of transportation an TransCanada's system.  In fact, such purchase parallels the manner in which Union would have purchased the gas for the customer had it continued as a sales customer.  Union believes that in this way Union's system integrity will be maintained and Union's remaining customers will be protected."


So stopping there, I suggest to you that conceptually what Union was proposing for T-service was analogous to the bundled service.  

Would you agree?  

MS. PASSMORE:  To me, this reads from 1986 that what they were proposing is that customers choosing a direct purchase path in 1986, you're trying to create a service that would be closest to what the system customers -- so these are customers - they used the word sales - customers that were receiving the commodities purchased on their behalf by Union. 

So at this point in time they're creating an interim first time direct purchase service in 1986 that tries to mirror what the system customer is using.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But it's T-service.  

MS. PASSMORE:  No, that's correct.  

MR. THOMPSON:  So the T-service customer is not using the commodity provided by Union.  It's shifting to direct purchase.  

MS. PASSMORE:  That was the very first step.  

MR. THOMPSON:  So all of the other delivery services is what is being talked about in the contract carriage proceeding.  

Union's proposal was:  Treat the services as if they were bundled.  That was the initial proposition.  That's what the words say.  

MR. MacEACHERON:  The thinking then, I think, was we were talking 21 years ago when you're at a time period when even our core market in Ontario could not buy molecules direct. 

At this time, you could not buy directly from a supplier in Ontario.  You had to buy your supply in Alberta or outside the province of Ontario.  

And I think, in the early stages here what this is trying to do is allow our large industrial customers to access cheaper supply and yet not hurt the system.  So we're seeing, in this type of quote and in this time period, the early developments of direct purchase and you're is seeing Union being concerned about wanting to make sure that the system integrity was maintained in our systems, delivery patterns remained the same and we were substituting blue molecules for red ones, basically.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what I suggest to you, Mr. MacEacheron, is what Union was trying to do and what Enbridge was trying to do as a result of the contract carriage proceeding was to provide T-service customers with delivery services that paralleled what system customers were getting.  

Do you agree or disagree?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  We're trying to substitute the molecule for -- customer molecule for one of our molecules and enable the customer to acquire cheaper supply, and that did mimic very closely at the time what our system supply looked like.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Let's move on.  

Were you around at this time, in this line of business or something else?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  You know what, in '86/'87 and about '88, I was.  T1 service had not materialized then, but some of the early buy/sells and CMPs offered By Western Gas Marketing and what have you, I was there for that, yes.  

MR. THOMPSON:  I thought T1 surfaced in 1987 -- at least that's what the history tells us. 

MR. MacEACHERON:  I left just about when it was coming in, about '87/'88 to a different job within Union.  

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, in terms of the allocations that were made in the initial instance, in paragraph 29 there is an excerpt.  It's again from the material, if you want to check it, at -- I think it is tab 11.  Let me just check this.  

I will have to come back to it.  I don't have it highlighted here yet.  Let me come back to that quote in a minute.  

Sorry.  It is at tab 11, which is page 14 from the prefiled evidence which was filed on January 10th of 1986, in the second paragraph.  
"Each contract carriage customer's contract will define a maximum storage balance that is available to that customer."


Do you know what the rationale for going to a maximum was?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  When I read the word maximum, it is "to not exceed."  To not exceed the amount.  It would be the maximum amount.  

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So you just will define a ceiling of storage balance?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then one of the reasons for the customer being required to provide its own gas was to prevent drafting of the system.  

You do you agree with that?  You can find that in the last paragraph of the excerpt at tab 11.  

For the interim period -- I am reading from this 
Tab:

"For the interim period it will be the customer's responsibility to ensure that at any point in time that the cumulative volumes delivered to Union on its behalf equal or exceed its cumulative consumption.  In the absence of this restraint, the customer could be consuming system gas for which it has not paid.  Union proposes to track this relationship and to take necessary corrective action, as required."


Can you agree with me that the obligation to maintain a positive storage balance was for the purpose of achieving this no-drafting condition?

MR. MacEACHERON:  I can accept that.  It makes sense.

MR. THOMPSON:  And in terms of approval of those proposals, as you will see in paragraph 31, the Board in its interim decision - and I have attached the excerpts of that at tab 12 - approved Union's proposals; fair?

MS. PASSMORE:  That's fine.

MR. MacEACHERON:  Hm-hmm.

MR. THOMPSON:  I suggest to you that those proposals were never at any time rejected by the Board subsequently.  Can you agree with that?

MR. MacEACHERON:  I don't have the information in front of me to agree or disagree with that, but...

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let's move on.

What we have at paragraph 32 are excerpts from the Board's final decision with respect to tab -- with respect to contract carriage.

If you go to tab 13, you will see the text of the Board's reasons with respect to storage excerpted there.  It recites Union's proposals and various positions of others.

If you go over to paragraph 3.2.52, which is at page 3-84, you will find an expression there of what I suggest is the analogy to bundled service:
"The Board finds that sales customers who change to T-service should be allowed to retain their existing storage entitlement."

Do you see that?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes, I do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do you agree that that is a reiteration of the analogy to what bundled service customers get?  T-service should get what sales customers get?

MS. PASSMORE:  That's what it says.

MR. MacEACHERON:  It says what it says.  I won't argue with that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then moving on, what we have described in paragraph 33 is in the evidence that the company adduced following the Board's final decision on the contract carriage case.

So we went from the contract carriage case interim decision, and then a final decision in the summer of '07, and then Union came in with its rate proposals responding to that decision.

Would you take that subject to check?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So in paragraph 33 we then have a reference here to the evidence you submitted in June 1987 in its first rate case following the Board's final decision.

If you go to tab 14, there are some excerpts from the evidence filed by Union's witnesses.

If you go over to page 8 of this material, starting at item 6, storage entitlement, we see what Union had to say about this back in 1987.

Are you reading this for the first time today with me, Mr. MacEacheron?

MR. MacEACHERON:  I certainly reviewed the materials that you sent earlier, but there is a lot of material here.

MR. THOMPSON:  I didn't mean that pejoratively.

MR. MacEACHERON:  I am following you, though.  I'm following you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Once again, we see Union reciting the Board's prior decision:

"The Ontario Energy Board has found that when a sales customer changes to T-service, he should retain an entitlement to storage."

Then Union goes on to describe the principles that should be applied, principles and objectives that should be applied for the determination of this entitlement; right?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Hm-hmm.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then we go over on to page 9 and Union recites the principles.

Are those principles still valid?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Are you asking if these principles are still valid today?

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. MacEACHERON:  I would say what we use today is we allocate storage to our T-service customers pursuant to what the Board order was -- the settlement agreement, I should say, which was approved by the Board in the unbundling decision, which directed that aggregate excess is the methodology used.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we will come to that phase of the history in a moment.

Let's go over to page 10, where here is Union's entitlement methodology, which, by the way, the Board approved.  Can you confirm that, as a result of this 1987 case?

What you spelled out here was approved by the Board?

MR. MacEACHERON:  I will take that subject to check.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Please.

Then in terms of the methodology, again this word "maximum" comes up:

"To determine a customer's maximum storage entitlement, Union proposes to use the EBR-O405-2 cost allocation study.  The cost allocation study shows the amount of storage allocated to each customer class as a cost of service.  That customer class storage entitlement would be shared amongst customers."

Just stopping there, that concept continues to apply; right?  To average an excess method is a cost allocation.

MR. MacEACHERON:  Where we depart from that is just after where you stopped, actually, where it says:

"The customer class storage entitlement would be shared amongst customers within each class based on annual volumetric use."

And today we use the aggregate excess method to determine what level of storage does a customer require.  We don't look at a customer who is in a bundled class and say that, You're 20 percent of the volumetric usage of that class; therefore, you are entitled to 20 percent of the storage, when, in fact, when in fact that customer may not need 5 percent of that storage to balance their obligated supply with their varying end use demand.

So way back 20 years ago, it's clear that storage was allocated based on the amount that was allocated in costs to a bundled rate class using -- and that was determined using aggregate excess, and then back 20 years ago, the customers were given storage proportional to their volume, not necessarily, therefore, linked to how they may need that storage.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you didn't...

I stopped, because what you use today to allocate storage to rate classes is not to individuals within the class, but to classes -- do you know what method is used to?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Aggregate excess method.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Do you know what method was being used to allocate costs to the rate classes back then, and would you take, subject to check, it was aggregate excess?

MR. MacEACHERON:  I know it was aggregate excess.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So the aggregate excess method for allocating costs to classes hasn't changed?

MR. MacEACHERON:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  What you proposed back in the '80s was, within the class, you would allocate the storage amongst customers based on the annual volumetric usage.  That was your proposal; right?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Hm-hmm.

MR. THOMPSON:  What was the rationale for that?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Again, this is very -- in the early days of this type of service development.  

I am not sure what the rationale was that underpinned that. Clearly today, when I look back and having the benefit of time now and I look back in that, I say allocating it based on volumetric usage, without any regard to how that customer is using the gas, doesn't make any sense.

Allocating based on need does make sense.

MR. THOMPSON:  It made sense to Union back in the '80s.

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the proposal was based on a set of principles; right?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.  Yes, I'm sure it was.  But times were different 20 years ago.  

MR. THOMPSON:  We will come to that in a minute.  And the Board approved it.  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And it stayed in place until 2000.  Right?  Unchanged for 13 years.  That's the way you did it.  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Well, as I recall reading some of this material, it refreshed my memory that in subsequent hearings we also talked about incorporating, where appropriate, Union could also take into consideration negotiations with its customer to help determine the allocation.  

Certainly that guided us, but where, for instance, it made sense from a business point of view, for a customer that had a significant alt-fuel capability and wanted to burn oil in the winter time because it was cheaper than gas and we saw an opportunity to allow them, if we gave them or allocated to that customer more storage, they would be able to purchase cheaper gas in the summertime and displace their oil burning in the winter, then that was a negotiated parameter that influenced the amount of storage back then that that customer was allocated.  

And in some cases has been frozen through the grandfathering that happened as part of the settlement agreement in June of 2000.  

MR. THOMPSON:  My point, Mr. MacEacheron is this.  Union set the rules in the late '80s.  The Board approved them.  And 22 customers, today, made their arrangements under the auspices of that regime.  That's the grandfathered category.  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.  I would say though the majority of those customers went T-service in the latter '90s, from mid to late '90s.  That's when the negotiated parameter was there, as well. 

So no question it was based on rate class allocation, but also there were negotiated parameters that came into play as well, in there.  

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Another rule that you introduced in the 1980s and that I suggest has been honoured up until this case was the rule that appears at the bottom of page 10 and over on page 11.  You said: 
"On an ongoing basis contracts will be assumed to renew and the storage space and deliverability will not be available for contracting by others," 
and so on.  That I suggest to you is the rollover rule.  The company proposed that contracts would be assumed to renew unless there was a material change in usage.  That was the rule.  Right?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  That was the practice that was perhaps in place then.  I would acknowledge that.  

I would also acknowledge that where we observed a significant change in the end use consumption, that there would be further discussions between Union and the customer with respect to the allocation.  

MR. THOMPSON:  I understood earlier today it was set once and remained unchanged.  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Then I also said that unless there was a significant change in the customer's end use consumption.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  So plus or minus 5 percent of the CD was the rule?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  It was a trigger that we established, yes.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But that, as I understand it, I describe that as the rollover group.  

Everything rolls over year after year, unless you've got the significant change parameter being engaged.  And that's the way it was starting in the late '80s right up to NGEIR.  

MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Thompson, just to clarify the timing of this.   

MR. RUPERT:  We're looking at a document from the '80s, right?  

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, yes.  I believe ...

MR. RUPERT:  And the plus or minus 5 percent of CD, are you saying that also flows from this same document and same time period?  

MR. THOMPSON:  Not precisely, no.  

Well, that I think -- just from my perspective but quantified around 2000.

MR. RUPERT:  That's what I want to understand.  Because I thought you were saying that also was established at the same time.  

MR. THOMPSON:  No.  I should have made that clear.  

MR. RUPERT:  Okay, thanks.  

MR. THOMPSON:  What I was trying to suggest, Mr. Rupert, was conceptually we had the rollover rule being established back then and I interpret the rollover rule to be absent a material change.  

Do you know if there is any parameters within the company, Mr. MacEacheron, that defined the plus or minus 5 percent CD before the 2000 settlement agreement?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  I am not aware of such parameters.  

I would suggest that we would look for significant changes and then act accordingly.  And I do take your point that it was the June 2000 settlement agreement where that was documented in an interrogatory response from Union.  

As to how would you determine what is a significant change, and we were asked that in interrogatory as part of that proceeding, unbundling proceeding and we responded that we would look to a change in CD by plus or minus 5 percent or more as a significant change.  And we followed that since that settlement agreement.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Is there an easy way to check whether something was in place before that interrogatory response as to what constituted a significant change?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  No.  Not an easy way.  Again the rules back then were fairly loose, as far as there were negotiated parameters that came into play.  And I know of one case, for instance, where 500,000 gJs were added to the allocation of a T1 customer in the late '90s simply to encourage the incremental burning of natural gas versus an alternative fuel, oil.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, all of what was in place at that point in the history came before the Board in the 2000 settlement agreement, which was discussed in the NGEIR decision and it is also attached, I believe, to one of your filings.  

I think it is in Exhibit A1, attachment 1.  If you go over to page 24 -- 

MS. WONG:  I don't think we can find that, Mr. Thompson.  Exhibit A1?  

MR. THOMPSON:  This is your supplementary evidence, is it?  

MS. WONG:  Sorry.  That is A-3 now.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, sorry.  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Exhibit A-3, is that what we're looking for?  

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Supplementary evidence.  Attachment 1, page 24.  

MS. WONG:  I understand this is from NGEIR, Mr. Thompson.  It is not the unbundling procedure.  Sorry.  

MS. PASSMORE:  This is unbundling.  

MS. WONG:  I'm sorry, it is unbundling, yes.  

MR. THOMPSON:  This is where you came forward or where Union came forward with the proposal prospectively to apply the aggregate excess method for determining the contractual allocations to T1s.  Am I correct, Mr. MacEacheron?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  This is an excerpt from the settlement agreement, is it not?  Is that what I am seeing here?  

MR. THOMPSON:  In this case, the company was proposing to move away from the volumetric allocation method, to determining an AE for each customer.  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Correct.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay?  Right?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.  

MR. THOMPSON:  So we see described in the first paragraph what the company was advocating.  

So in the southern operations area, the allocation of storage space to customers electing the unbundled service option reflects the existing Board-approved cost-allocation methodology.  This methodology allocates storage space and the associated cost to bundled rate classes in proportion to each rate class aggregate excess ...

It goes on and describes that.  

It describes the adjustment factor that you were then proposing.  And this factor recognizes that some customers have a predominantly summer load which reduces the aggregate excess in total.  You discussed that earlier today.  Right?  

It then goes on to describe the allocation for M2, and so on, but down -- the last part of this paragraph, we have the grandfathering commitment in these words:
"Union also confirmed its intent to grandfather all existing T1 storage allocations subject to change only in the circumstances of material changes in customer demand."

That's the grandfathered promise; right, Mr. MacEacheron?

MR. MacEACHERON:  That's it, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And it reflects the rollover rule?

MS. PASSMORE:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  You were confirming all existing storage allocations that had gone on before this deal, and then subject to change only in the circumstances of material changes in customer demand?

MR. MacEACHERON:  That's how we have operated the T1 service since this settlement agreement was approved.

MR. THOMPSON:  So that was -- was that a promise by Union that was intended to endure?

MR. MacEACHERON:  That's -- you know, I'm not familiar with the legal terminology perhaps, but it is how we committed to operate T1 service and how we were going to treat the then existing T1 customers.

MR. THOMPSON:  So -- and the Board approved this settlement --

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes, they did.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- proposal?  So we have Board-approved promise; is that fair?

MR. MacEACHERON:  The Board approved this settlement agreement.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now -- so as of 2000, I suggest to you, in terms of approved, Board-approved methods, we had the method that -- in terms of space that applied between the late '80s and 2000; right?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the Board approved that carrying on for the customers that had made their deals at that time?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Referring to the settlement agreement?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes, they approved the settlement agreement.

MR. THOMPSON:  But the grandfathering allocations was approved?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Grandfathering was a component of the settlement agreement.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the rollover rule was approved?

MR. MacEACHERON:  As part of the unbundling proceeding, we indicated that we would roll over the allocation of grandfathered customers year over year unless there was a significant change at the plant, so with the significant change in mind, that we would rollover the grandfathered allocations.

MR. THOMPSON:  And you honoured those rules right up to the NGEIR proceedings; right?

MR. MacEACHERON:  We have followed that, yes, right up to the NGEIR decision.

MR. THOMPSON:  And in the NGEIR proceeding, you made no request to change those rules?

MR. MacEACHERON:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So where does Union stand on contract sanctity?

MR. MacEACHERON:  We very strongly endorse the sanctity of the contract, and we have made that point very clear in our presentations to customers and comments to others.

When the Board directed us as part of its NGEIR decision in November of 2006, it was abundantly clear that they were aware of the existence of the 21 grandfathered customers, because IGUA had brought that to their attention, to your attention.

And when we received the directive from the Board, the Board directed us to develop a policy and file that policy with the Board within 90 days and, in that policy 
develop -- you know, confirm a methodology for allocating storage to all of your T1 customers in a manner that is fair, consistent and standardized.

And when we read that and when we sat down back at the shop, when received that decision and we put to work to develop our policy and our additional allocation methodology, we took that very serious, and we understood from the direction that we received that the Board wanted us to consider all T1 customers, not just the T1 customers who went T-service post June of 2000.

So we applied it to all.  We applied our proposal to all T1 customers.  They didn't exclude, in the direction to us, the grandfathered customers.


MR. THOMPSON:  Just a couple of more questions, Mr. Chair.  I know it is five o'clock.

You regard this promise in the 2000 settlement agreement as binding on Union or not binding?

MR. MacEACHERON:  I regard that as binding, but we are also regulated by the Ontario Energy Board, and all of our contracts that are binding between ourselves and our customers ultimately are subject to the direction from the Ontario Energy Board that we receive.  And there is a clause specifically in our general terms and conditions --

MR. THOMPSON:  So are you interpreting the NGEIR directive as a directive by the Board to override contracts?

MR. MacEACHERON:  No.  I view -- the directive that we received was to review your policy for allocating storage to T1 customers and file with the Board your policy that ensures that storage is allocated, cost-based storage is allocated to T1 customers in a cost effective -- not a cost effective, I'm sorry, but a clear standardized and consistent manner.

And the Board did not exclude any customers from that review in their direction to us, and where customers have long-term contracts with us, at issues day that was discussed.  And we put forward the point that the sanctity of those long-term contracts should be maintained, and our policy, our proposed policy, calls for the allocation of the storage at contract renewal.  And respecting the sanctity of those contracts, we're proposing that our policy be implemented at their respective contract renewal dates.

But the other contracts that have one-year terms to them, they renew.  Those contracts renew every year with our customers who have contracted on an annual basis for us.

So at renewal is a logical time to implement changes, changes that happen in the industry, changes as ordered by the Board.  Of course, the Board could order changes mid contract term, as well.

MR. THOMPSON:  There is no time limit on this promise in the 2000 settlement agreement.  It engages when there is material changes in circumstances.  But you're interpreting the NGEIR directives to entitle you to override these contracts.  That's the company's position; have I got that straight?

MR. MacEACHERON:  No.  We have interpreted the NGEIR direction to not exclude any segment of your T1 and T3 customers when you are developing this policy.  That -- when I read the decision, I read very clearly in there the estoppel argument advanced by IGUA with respect to the grandfathered customers, and I read very clearly in there the Board did not support the estoppel argument advanced by IGUA.

Further, the Board went on to say that they weren't going to order the ending of grandfathering, but they were going to direct Union to develop a policy to allocate storage to all of its T1 customers in a manner that is fair, consistent and standardized, and that is what we followed.

MR. THOMPSON:  We will pick it up there tomorrow, Mr. Kaiser.

MR. RUPERT:  Just a couple of quick questions before we leave this topic.

Mr. MacEacheron, I think you said earlier in reply to questions by Mr. Thompson that in this period from, say, '87, which is one of the cases that he was referring you to, up to 2000, that space allocation took place essentially on an aggregate excess method for these customer, these T1 customers.

MR. MacEACHERON:  If I could clarify that then for you, aggregate excess guided, you might say, the allocation of storage to T1 customers back then.

Aggregate excess was used for all of our bundled rates in allocating storage to the bundled rates.

Then if the customer was in an M7 rate class and elected to switch to the T-service, we would look at the total storage allocated to the M7 rate class that was determined using aggregate excess for that rate class, and then we would allocate to that customer a percentage of that storage based on their percentage of volume throughput.

So if they were, let's say, 20 percent of the total through-put in that storage, in that rate class in the earlier days, they might have gotten 20 percent of the storage allocated to the M7 rate class.  

And that was the basis for some early allocations.  

As time evolved, other factors influenced that, perhaps looking at aggregate excess itself for that customer.  But it was really guided by the volumes that that customer -- 

MR. RUPERT:  If I could rephrase that then.  You're saying aggregate excess was used for the entire class.  But if someone wanted to move to this T1 class, they may have a load profile that might suggest they get zero on an aggregate excess basis. 

A big volume of gas they use but the profile is such they would get on a normal unique aggregate excess calculation maybe zero or not much at all.  The customer nonetheless would receive a lot of storage by virtue of their large consumption. 

MR. MacEACHERON:  That is absolutely correct.  

MR. RUPERT:  So the people that -- the second question is, I think you maybe answered it:  Why grandfathering?  Why was there a need to grandfather anybody?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  I view that when the settlement agreement was being negotiated it was -- and the aggregate excess was being put forward as the methodology for determining the allocation of storage to our T1 customers, there was concern, of course, about, well, wait a minute,  what about all of the existing customers that are currently on T-service?  This will impact those customers.  

And there was recognition of that.  And I always, personally, viewed the grandfathering as more of a transition.  Now you won't necessarily see the prints in there but maybe more of a transition to the aggregate excess methodology but it was a transition that really hadn't, didn't have an end.  

MR. RUPERT:  Two other quick ones then.  We talked about space.  

Maybe it is in here and I haven't seen it.  What, if anything, did this June 2000 settlement agreement have to say about deliverability generally and deliverability particularly with respect to the grandfathered contracts?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  I don't think it mentioned deliverability back then.  

MS. PASSMORE:  It's interesting, if you do -- there is two references to grandfathering actually in the settlement agreement, and the page that Mr. Thompson took us to, page 24, is Union's south, so that would be the customers in Union's south.  Within that context there was no discussion of deliverability.  So you just finished talking about the 1.2 percent standard storage on bundled service.  The 10 percent SPS unbundled, but then when we talked about grandfathering it only talks about space.  

But then when you move to the next page and we talk about the north, and here is where you see the first references about being transitional.  I think that is where the concepts of it being a transition.  But in order to facilitate the transition to new methodology, Union agrees to grandfather existing customers currently operating with storage at their existing storage deliverability level  where these customers remain at T-service or select the new unbundled. 

So even though this part was talking about the north that is where you hear the concepts for the first time about transition and about deliverability.  But in the south there was no discussion of that.  

MR. RUPERT:  Notwithstanding that, the way you applied it was to carry forward the deliverability as existed then just as for the space instead of both of those parameters are grandfathered?  

MS. PASSMORE:  Yes.  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes, that's correct.  

MR. RUPERT:  Thank you.  And the last one.  These are one year contracts that roll over at I guess the customer's request, if they want to continue the contract they can.  

MS. PASSMORE:  Both Union and the customer have a 90- day notice.  

So Union can give a termination notice within 90 days of renewal or the customer can elect to expire the contract with 90 days advance notice.  

MR. MacEACHERON:  So they are annual contracts.  You are correct.  And this will roll over.  If neither party serves notice to the other within the 90-day notice period, prior to the 90-day notice period, then the contracts will be assumed to have rolled over and will indeed roll over to the next contract term which is annual.  

We only have about five soon to be -- I guess now seven long-term T1 contracts.  The rest are all annual.  

MR. RUPERT:  Okay, thanks.  

MS. WONG:  Mr. Chair, I assume the witnesses – well, I would like permission for the witnesses to be able to speak over the evening and discuss the evidence.  

MR. KAISER:  Any objection, Mr. Thompson?  

MR. THOMPSON:  No.  

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  9:30 tomorrow.  
--- Whereupon hearing adjourned at 5:10 p.m. 
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